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LandCorp is a Government trading entity  

established under the Western Australian  

Land Authority Act 1992. 

Welcome.

This Report 
presents our 

performance for 
the financial  

year from  
1 July 2015 to  
30 June 201601

1.1 Who we are

LandCorp is responsible to the Minister for Regional 
Development; Lands, who also has responsibility for the 
Department of Lands, Department of Regional Development, 
the Regional Development Commissions and Landgate.

We are the agency of the State authorised by Parliament 
to deliver Government policy objectives in regard to land 
development. Our Act requires us to provide or facilitate the 
delivery of land, infrastructure, facilities and services for the 
social, economic and environmental needs of the State. We work 
to realise the potential of land and infrastructure by developing 
land for housing, business and industry which builds social and 
economic prosperity for all Western Australians.

1.2 About this report

This Report captures 2015-16 financial year performance, in line 
with the requirements set out in the Western Australian Land 
Authority Act 1992 and the Financial Management Act 2006. 
Our performance includes both our financial and sustainability 
performance against priority material issues. The standards 
and principles set by the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) G4 
Sustainability Reporting Guidelines, and the Government of 
Western Australia Public Sector Commission Annual reporting 
framework have informed this report. This Report represents an 
integration of annual and sustainability reporting and reflects 
an ongoing commitment to integrate sustainability within our 
operations, while this report presents priority material issues a 
full sustainability report in accordance with the GRI Sustainability 
Reporting Guidelines will be available online.
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2015-16 delivered a transitioning economy and contracting 

market conditions. Lessening market demand challenged the 

development sector and LandCorp was certainly not immune 

to the effects of this changing landscape. 

A message from 
the Chairman.
This situation wasn’t confined to metropolitan Perth. The 
effect of a resource sector moving from construction to 
production resulted in considerable changes across markets 
in regional WA. The timing of this shift fortunately coincided 
with many of the major LandCorp projects in the Pilbara and 
the Kimberley moving to practical completion.

A decade of revitalisation in these areas has delivered 
substantial amenity and infrastructure, comparable to other 
high profile regional centres across the state. Market ready 
development is available in both regions to accommodate 
the inevitable market upswing.

As a result of the completion of major works and in response 
to changing conditions, development priorities have been 
recalibrated to accommodate a shift in operational emphasis, 
with the focus firmly on the future.

Development drivers for the future were recently confirmed 
as part of a regular five year independent review process 
carried out by the Minister for Regional Development; Lands.

This important Review was conducted in line with the 
requirements of the Western Australian Land Authority Act 
1992 and involved interviews with more than 100 government 
and private sector stakeholders.

The findings confirmed we deliver positive outcomes for the 
economic and social benefit of our State.

Overall, it was a very encouraging result. 
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It’s confirms our role as central in facilitating 
residential density and infill opportunities and 
building on our achievements in regional areas. 
It also, and equally importantly, confirms the 
need to continue to open up the most challenging 
and constrained industrial and residential projects 
and maximise the regeneration of underutilised 
urban spaces.

But of greater significance it serves as a reminder 
to be sure we don’t rest on our laurels or let this 
satisfying result lead to complacency or a sense of 
self- importance in the way we do business.

Building on development achievements in 
metropolitan and regional areas and facilitating 
economic and employment growth was seen as 
a clear mandate by our stakeholders.

On the regional front, The Pilbara is in good shape 
with plenty of market ready opportunities. The 
story is similar in the Kimberley.

LandCorp will maintain a development presence 
in the North West of WA but for the main part, 
especially where the community and visitor 
experience was less than optimal, the lion’s share of 
the revitalisation task is complete.

The need to accommodate an additional 1.5 million 
people by 2030 and an understanding of the many 
benefits which come from living in a connected 
urban community is driving our metropolitan 
development agenda.

There has and will continue to be a significant 
investment in our Metropolitan program which 
creates land for commercial investment in 
activity centres, urban renewal and infill projects 
throughout Perth. The program also enables 
people to invest in new homes in master planned 
estates which combine town centres with business 
and residential land in one location.

Significant projects already underway include 
Cockburn Central West, Cockburn Coast 
redevelopment, Mandurah Junction, Alkimos City 
Centre, Claremont North East redevelopment, 
Jolimont redevelopment and Shenton Park Health 
Campus redevelopment.

Long term strategic thinking to support economic 
and employment growth can be seen at the 
Western Trade Coast where projects such as 
Latitude 32 Industry Zone, a 1,400 hectare precinct 
which will deliver land suitable for a wide range of 
industries over the next few decades. Similarly, at 
Nambeelup in the Peel region, many agencies are 
pulling together to transform a 28,000 hectare 
agricultural and industrial site into a business, food 
zone and an integrated water initiative. Nambeelup 
Business Park is part of the Transform Peel initiative 
which is predicted to ultimately deliver up to 33,000 
jobs and economic opportunities for the Peel region. 

LandCorp has an important role to play in leading 
this scale of transformational change. 

Issues like land and infrastructure constraints, 
population growth, increasing pressure on natural 
systems and resources, changing demographics, 
increasing quality of life expectations and the 
costs associated with traditional housing and 
living options will all influence our thinking over 
the next decade.

Business and government are at their best when 
they work together to identify opportunities 
and innovate and create solutions for social, 
economic and environment challenges. We are 
well-placed to facilitate positive change as we 
are able to demonstrate innovation and deliver 
outcomes on the ground to achieve Government 
policy objectives. 

Western Australia has many strings to its bow, 
including a progressive, innovative and profitable 
agriculture sector, a vibrant and growing tourist 
industry and a construction sector which is fuelled 
by the demands of a growing population.

On balance, the future is bright. 

I would like to close by thanking the Hon Minister 
Terry Redman, MLA for his support across the 
Regional Development; Lands portfolio, my 
fellow Board Directors for their commitment and 
enthusiasm, essential qualities when directing the 
state-wide LandCorp development, and of course 
the LandCorp Executive and staff for another 
impressive year. 
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For me, 2015-16 will be remembered 
as the year LandCorp cemented its 
role in innovation in developing the 
communities of the future.

This approach is in line with our 
desire to interrogate and trial 
innovative practise to ensure 
everything we do drives innovation. 

For example, at WGV at White Gum 
Valley in Perth’s south, an Australian 
first  is underway In the  testing 
of shared solar power and battery 
storage technology at a strata level 
using our Gen Y Demonstration 
Housing Project and three apartment 
sites which, when completed, will trial 
battery powered energy on a multi-
residential scale.

This estate was recently recognised 
at the PIA national awards for 
planning excellence where it 
received the award for Best Planning 
Ideas – Small Project. The project 
was recognised for its ability to 
showcase a highly innovative 
and environmentally responsible 
approach to improving diversity of 
housing opportunities in urban areas. 
This recognition comes on the back 
of two awards at a State level: The 
Planning Minister’s Award; and Best 
Planning Ideas - Small Project.

In the northern corridor the Vive 
development in Craigie is measuring 
the effectiveness of geothermal 
energy at single residential scale 
using a geoexchange system against 
standard heating and cooling 
technology. This world-first trial is 
being undertaken in partnership with 
GeoEexchange Australia, ABN Group, 
Carbonomics and The University of 
Western Australia.

With more than 60,000 strata 
schemes in WA alone, and countless 
others across the country, these 
initiatives have untold potential 
around renewable energy adoption.

Another key focus which supports 
the management of more than 140 
projects and is critical in their delivery 
is the work we do in partnership with 
the private sector and other areas of 
government to boost our capacity to 
move our State forward.

Key partnerships for the 
establishment of new residential 
communities include: Alkimos – 
where a partnership with Lendlease 
is creating a master-planned, 
coastal community with a major 
regional centre and coastal village. 
At Fremantle work is ongoing 
with the City of Fremantle and 
private development partners to 

revitalise the Knutsford Precinct, 
a former industrial area which is 
being transformed into a cutting 
edge residential community. On the 
northern coastal corridor at Allara 
an affordable community is well on 
the way to be well established as 
a result of a partnership with The 
Satterley Group and in Rockingham 
a partnership with Cedar Woods 
Properties will deliver the highly 
anticipated Mangles Bay Marina-
Based Tourism Precinct.

On the industrial front investment 
in the development of strategic 
business incubators across the State 
is dual purpose in that it creates 
future employment and economic 

A message from  
the Chief Executive.
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opportunity which in turn supports 
residential and business growth.

It also adds value and complements 
major infrastructure projects. For 
example, the unique and integrated 
Western Trade Coast precinct 
incorporates management of the 
Australian Marine Complex Common 
User Facility, collaboration with 
Government on infrastructure 
requirements, structure planning 
of Latitude 32 Industry Zone and 
provision of general industrial land 
in the Rockingham Industry Zone. 
Work to progress this important 
asset for Western Australia Is being 
carried out with the Department of 
State Development and other parts 
of Government. Expansion of the 
Western Trade Coast will ultimately 
support a business powerhouse of 
industry and employment generating 
more than $14 billion in direct 
sales and employing more than 
13,000 people.

Where necessary, LandCorp helps 
to pre-fund projects where returns 
are marginal, or require significant 
investment before a positive cash 
flow is generated – which in turn 
gives local businesses across the 
State the opportunity to optimise 
their investment.

Western Australia’s transformation 
over the past eight years has seen 
the regions flourish. 

The State Government’s Royalties 
for Regions program demonstrates 
a long-term commitment to regional 
growth. With approximately $4.2 
billion invested to date and a 
further $1 billion committed each 
year for the next four years, we 
are seeing regional WA assume 
a greater role across key sectors 
like agriculture, health, community 
services, education, sport, transport 
and tourism.

Much of our work in regional and 
metropolitan WA involves civil 
contractors who are increasingly 
turning to Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander workers to fill the many 
and varied roles which are vital to the 
continuing growth and development 
of this vast State. 

There is an upwards trajectory in 
both the number of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander workers filling 
these important roles, and also in 
the number of companies that are 
enhancing their employee ranks with 
the active employment of Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander workers. 

Two thirds of civil contracting 
companies surveyed by the Civil 
Contractors Federation WA 
(CCFWA) employ Aboriginal or 
Torres Strait Islander people. This 
66 per cent figure represents a 
significant improvement, up from 
45 per cent in 2011. 

The benefits that Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander workers bring 
to their companies are many, and 
barriers to Indigenous employment, 
both perceived and real, are not 
insurmountable - as demonstrated 
by some of WA’s industry leaders 
in a highly informative Aboriginal 
Engagement Guide produced in 
partnership with LandCorp and 
the CCFWA.

The Guide includes case studies 
and practical advice to companies 
on how best to engage with and 
benefit from forming employment 
relationships with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people.

This partnership provides support 
to the wider industry, seeking to 
improve Aboriginal economic 
development through industry 
led solutions. 

Land and property are the building 
blocks for assembling something 
much greater, creating places for 
current and future generations to 
live and work however none of our 
many transformational projects 
would be possible without extensive 
stakeholder and community 
engagement and consultation.

In accordance with the WALA Act 
which guides our operation, we have 
a commercial imperative to return 
an annual dividend to Government. 
During the 2016-15 year, our return 
totalled $113.286 million which will 
be redirected to support a range of 
community services.

In addition, our work with the 
Western Australian Planning 
Commission supports the 
remediation and transformation 
of sites which are no longer fit for 
purpose. Examples include the 
former Shenton Park hospital which 
will ultimately house approximately 
2,500 residents and helps to give 
effect to the Perth and Peel @ 3.5 
million planning policy.

This approach is reflected in our 
strategic planning documents and 
ratified by the LandCorp Executive, 
Board and the Minister for Lands.

In closing the door on 2015-16 I would 
like to thank my Executive team 
for their support and commitment, 
the LandCorp Board for their 
guidance and strategic counsel, 
the Hon. Minister Redman MLA for 
his direction and encouragement 
and the LandCorp team for making 
me proud.
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Performance 
highlights.

1,726
residential dwelling unit 

equivalents created

in the past five years our 
projects have supplied

25%
of the infill dwelling 

equivalents achieved in the 
Perth and Peel region

Metropolitan highlights

LandCorp's dwelling unit 
equivalents created in urban infill 

developments

89.6%

In the past 5 years we have assisted more than

with the development of residential, commercial 
or industrial land

50 local
authorities

Regional highlights

199
regional residential dwelling unit  

equivalents created 

Economic and Employment highlights

58 
Economic and 
employment  
industrial lots 

created

$90
million
was invested in industrial

precincts helping to support
our State's economy

76
businesses

718
jobs

$276.9
million in economic

output

industrial and
commercial

lots sold

55
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Kimberley
Ord-East Kimberley Expansion Project
Januburu Six Seasons
Broome North Waranyjarri Estate
Broome Road Industrial

Gascoyne
Carnarvon NorthWater
Carnarvon Cornish Street 
Light Industrial
Exmouth Nimitz 
Residential Estate

Mid West

Batavia Coast Marina, Geraldton
Oakajee
Morawa Light Industrial
Morawa Residential
Narngulu Industrial Estate

Perth and Peel
Karnup 
Parkside Walk, Jolimont
WGV at White Gum Valley
Shenton Park
Allara, Eglinton
Cockburn Central West
Cockburn Central Town Centre
Alkimos Beach
Claremont on the Park
Rockingham City Centre
Western Trade Coast
Australian Marine Complex
Latitude 32
Forrestdale Business Park
Shoreline, Cockburn Coast
Cockburn Commercial Park
Mangles Bay Marina Tourism Precinct
Meridian Park, Neerabup
Mandurah Junction
Mandurah Ocean Marina
Nambeelup
Pinjarra Industrial Estate

South West
Collie Shotts
Buckingham Way
Bunbury Waterfront
Harvey
Kemerton Strategic Industrial Area
McLarty site (South West and Peel)

Great Southern 
Albany Waterfront
Albany Middleton Beach
Emu Point
Katanning

Bunbury

Karratha

Port Hedland

Broome

PERTH

Head Office
Regional Offices

Denmark
Mt Barker
Mirrabeena Industrial Estate
Yerriminup Industrial Area

140 active projects  
across the state

Coral Coast

Denham (Gascoyne)
Green Head (Mid West)
Leeman (Mid West)
Cervantes (Wheatbelt)

Pilbara 
Gap Ridge Industrial Estate
Hedland Junction
Wedgefield Industrial
Estate
Newman Light
Industrial Area

Ashburton North 
Strategic Industrial Area
Karratha City Centre
Baynton West
Madigan Road
Nickol West Estate

Goldfields-Esperance

GreenView Residential Estate
Karlkurla Rise
Anzac Drive Industrial Estate

East Port Hedland/Marina 
Precinct
Newman Town Centre
East Newman Residential Estate
Mulataga
South Hedland Town Centre

Wheatbelt

Avon Industrial Park
Various RDAP  
Projects including:
Dowerin Residential
Dalwallinu Residential
Hyden Residential
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Finances

$285
million
in sales
revenue

$113.286 million
 in payments to
Government

Sold 14 properties on behalf 
of Government grossing

$14.99
million

65.4%

of our procurement budget 
spent on local suppliers

92%

of stakeholders were satisfied with 
their relationship with us

innovation 
projects

in delivery

8
$1million

spent on Aboriginal enterprise 
procurement and sponsorship

9,170
visitors engaged online

Corporate highlights

46%
of single residential

metropolitan lots
sold at prices
affordable for

low to moderate
income earners

Gen Y housing 
demonstration

Micro grid energy trial

Solar and community 
battery trial

Cool Earth geothermal

Liveable Homes 
demonstration

Sustainable housing for 
artists and creatives

Water wise exemplar

Affordable housing 
demonstration
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Enterprise Park, Wangara 
won the National Property 
Council of Australia 2016 
award for the category of 

Best Business  
and Industrial 

Park

2015 Urban
Development

Institute of Australia’s
WA Award for 
Excellence winners: 
The Primary, Coolbellup;
Perry Lakes,  and Baynton
West Karratha

WGV at White Gum Valley has received 
three prestigious

Planning Institute of
Australia awards for

excellence: Best Planning Ideas 
- Small Project (WA Nov 2015), Best 

Planning Ideas - Small Project (National 
2016); and the Planning Ministers 

Award (WA Nov 2015).

Awards
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  180 employees
People

92.6%
staff

retention
rate

Received

GOLD
RECOGNITION

for the
Healthy Workplace 

recognition program

of learning and 
development training 

per employee

19hrs
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5.1 Purpose

As the Western Australian Government’s land development 
agency, we play a critical role in planning for the growth 
and development of our suburbs and towns, our cities 
and our State. 

We operate to realise the potential of land, Government assets, 
and infrastructure by providing balanced environmental, 
social and economic outcomes for the benefit of all 
Western Australians. Our role is unique in that we operate 
State-wide, create large and small developments, adopt 
an integrated approach, act commercially and provide a 
return to Government for reinvestment. Our commitment 
to sustainability, innovation and partnerships underpins our 
development approach as we recognise much of what we do 
has a direct impact on social, economic and environmental 
development outcomes. 

Approach.

Our vision is “to realise the potential of land and 

property across Western Australia by delivering 

excellence in new and revitalised residential 

and economic centres”.
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5.2 Values

Organisational values underpin everything we undertake and 
guide our relationships with each other and with our partners, 
stakeholders and customers. Our values assist to create a 
constructive, high-performance culture and are focused around 
four central themes collectively known as ‘CARA’:

Collaborate Be supportive and responsive to others.

Achieve Adopt a positive attitude and encourage 
 effective outcomes.

Respect Act with integrity and listen.

Adapt Be innovative and open to change.

Realising	the	social,	
economic and environmental 

potential of residential  
and economic and 
employment land  

across Western Australia.

Our community 
engagement approach 

ensures we understand and 
respond to the community's 

economic, social and 
environmental needs 

and expectations.
We ensure the best 

outcomes and returns are 
achieved from Government 

land holdings.

Through our sustainable 
development approach  

we balance social, economic 
and environmental 

outcomes.

 We work closely with  
the private sector to 

facilitate private sector 
investment in the State.

We ensure adequate  
land supply to 

support economic and 
community growth.

We address market 
failure related to supply, 

diversity, price point, 
timing or lots produced 

and de-risk land.

We seek to demonstrate 
innovation in land and 
property development 
to achieve Government 

policy objectives.
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5.3 Ministerial review – 
Western Australian Land 
Authority Act

Section 48 of the Western Australian Land 
Authority (WALA) requires our Minister to 
undertake a review of the operation and 
effectiveness of the Act every five years. In 2015, 
the fourth independent review of the Act was 
conducted and tabled in Parliament on 10 May 2016. 
Under the terms of reference the review considered 
our overall effectiveness, responsiveness to 
Government needs and our functions, and whether 
additional functions where required. The review was 
informed by in depth interviews with more than 
100 Government and private sector stakeholders.

Review findings are summarised below

01
The effectiveness of the 
operations of the Authority:

The Authority is an effective, 
responsive Government Trading 
Entity, which has delivered 
outcomes in land development 
for the economic and social, 
needs of the State.

02
The need for continuation of 
the functions of the Authority:

There is an ongoing need  
for the existing functions of  
the Authority.

03
Such other matters as appear to be relevant to the operations and 
effectiveness of the Act

The Authority should:

• Build on the effective delivery  
of achievements in the 
regions of Western Australia 
to consolidate social and 
economic growth of the state;

• redouble facilitation of 
residential density infill 
opportunities in the Perth 
and Peel regions to assist 
in achievement of planning 
policy targets;

• Encourage the Government’s 
use of LandCorp resources 
and expertise to acquire, 
de-constrain or divest surplus 
Government assets with 
the objective of maximising 
social and economic returns 
to the community and 
manage development risk;

• Hasten development of 
the significant integrated 
industrial zone known as 
the Western Trade Coast in 
the role of implementation 
agency accountable to 
Department of State 
Development (DSD) as 
Lead Agency 

and;

• Expedite delivery of 
industrial land supply 
identified in the Economic 
and Employment of Lands 
Strategy within three to five 
years to meet the demands 
and requirements of Perth 
metropolitan and Peel regions.
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On behalf of the Government, the 
Minister for Lands undertook to 
implement the agreed findings 
and recommendations and 
we have adjusted our 2016-17 
strategic and business action 
plans to deliver the required 
outcomes. The review has 
indicated that stakeholders see 
our role as central to delivering 
residential density and infill 
development, building on 
development achievements in 
regional areas and facilitating 
economic and employment 
growth. This is reflected in the 
following ‘Strategy’ section. 

01
The Government should 
prioritise development of the 
Western Trade Coast comprising 
Kwinana, Rockingham, 
Henderson and Latitude 32 by 
empowering the Department 
of State Development as Lead 
Agency resourced by LandCorp 
as implementation agency. 

02
LandCorp should encourage 
greater cohesion and stronger 
working relationships between 
agencies, including addressing 
previous identified points 
of friction or barriers to co-
operation. Government should 
reconfirm the LandCorp charter 
and role, to facilitate improved 
co-operation and stronger 
working protocols with partner 
Government agencies.

03
The review recommendations were

The Government and LandCorp 
should endeavour to clarify 
the balance the Authority is 
required to strike between 
commercial imperatives and 
social outcomes, recognising 
that conflict here has  
potential to subordinate 
strategic projects.

04
The Government should better 
engage the responsive expertise 
that LandCorp is capable of 
providing to other agencies and 
sectors in order to maximise 
social and economic benefits to 
the State.

05
LandCorp should review and 
analyse its management of joint 
venture relationships to balance 
the cost of any duplication 
whilst maximising the benefits 
of partnership.
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5.4 Strategy

Vision
To realise the potential of land  
and property across Western 
Australia by delivering excellence  
in new and revitalised residential 
 and economic centres.

Strategic direction
We are in a unique position to 
make a significant contribution 
to Western Australia. With 
projects spanning metropolitan, 
regional, industrial, tourism and 
commercial developments, a key 
driver is delivering positive social, 
environmental and economic 
outcomes through strong 

commercial performance. We do this 
by working across four key result 
areas: integrated project outcomes, 
our relationships and partnerships, 
organisational and commercial 
sustainability and market leadership 
and innovation.

Integrated Project 
Outcomes

Be agile and 
responsive, adopting 
an integrated view 
across a town site, 
area or market 
segment to deliver 
excellent projects and 
outcomes consistent 
with Government 
policy, which meet 
customer needs and 
maximise internal 
efficiencies.

Relationships and 
Partnerships

Maintain relevance 
to Government by 
building a track 
record of delivering 
social and economic 
outcomes aligned to 
Government policy 
and solving problems 
for Government. 

Continue to build on 
strong relationships 
and partnerships with 
other Government 
departments and 
agencies, private 
sector suppliers and 
stakeholders. 

Promote and offer 
expertise to achieve 
outcomes on 
Government priorities.

Organisational 
and Commercial 
Sustainability

Build a highly skilled, 
engaged, values driven 
workforce as well as 
robust systems to 
support our efforts to 
deliver balanced triple 
bottom line outcomes.

Focus on being 
market responsive, 
self-funded, securing 
capital for the future, 
delivering significant 
value projects and 
delivering targeted 
financial returns to the 
State Government.

01 02 03 04

Market Leadership 
and Innovation

Committed 
to sustainable 
development and 
leading industry 
initiatives by 
Innovation through 
Demonstration 
to accelerate the 
adoption of new 
concepts in urban, 
regional and industrial 
development.
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We manage State-wide operations under three areas of operational focus (figure 1). We ensure optimal 
delivery of economic and employment land across Western Australia and are focused on the residential 
and urban regeneration of metropolitan and regional centres of population through the provision or 
improvement of land for those centres. We continue to provide property advice through Government 
services which seeks to optimise the benefits of surplus Government assets.

Economic and employment 

Provide land and infrastructure 
for future employment across 
the State – in the metropolitan 
area and throughout the regions 
to facilitate economic growth, 
increase employment and 
encourage new investment into  
the State economy.

Residential and urban regeneration 

Deliver urban regeneration and revitalisation projects in 
the Perth metropolitan area where unique opportunities or 
development constraints exist to deliver on the State’s urban 
infill targets.

Grow cities and towns in regional Western Australia through 
the supply of suitable residential land and infrastructure in areas 
where the private sector will not operate.

Government services

Provide expert property services to Government to optimise the benefits of surplus Government assets. 
Assist agencies to acquire, develop and market individual sites, as well as providing property and project 
management services that include the remediation of contaminated sites.

Figure 1 Areas of operational focus

Cockburn Central Town Centre: Pop-up cafe
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Community Wellbeing
Creating communities that are safe, 
healthy and enjoyable places to live 
and work, with access to appropriate 
and affordable housing and creating 
opportunities to foster active 
local communities.

Design Excellence
Developing a built environment that 
ensures attractive, accessible and 
adaptable places that contribute to a 
distinctive identity and sense of place.

Environmental Responsibility
Protecting and managing natural 
systems, habitat and biodiversity, 

and efficiently and innovatively 
managing energy, water, resources 

and materials.

Economic Health
Maximising economic development 

opportunity, while optimising the 
environmental, social and economic 

benefits in accordance with State 
Government strategies. 

Integrated  
Sustainable  

Development

Figure 2 Elements of sustainable development

Elements of sustainable development 
LandCorp defines sustainable 
development as comprising 
four elements: environmental 
responsibility, community wellbeing, 
design excellence and economic 
health. The drive for improved 
social, environmental and economic 
outcomes is a thread woven through 
our strategic direction and key result 
areas. While our Act underpins 
our commitment to sustainability, 
requiring us to take account of 

and balance social, economic and 
environmental outcomes, we see the 
elements as the essential framework 
for how we can work to realise 
the potential of land and property 
development. In this way, sustainable 
development is a critical part to the 
way we approach projects. 

Land, infrastructure and property are 
the building blocks for assembling 
something much greater, creating 

places for current and future 
generations to live and work. 

Our commitment to the 
Global Reporting Initiative 
(GRI) Sustainability Reporting 
Framework continues to focus us 
on transparency, accountability and 
the ongoing improvement of our 
performance and the outcomes we 
deliver for the Western Australian 
community. 

WGV at White Gum Valley. Artist impression for illustrative purposes only.
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5.4 Defining the content of our report

Figure 4 Materiality map

Material area category key

■  Integrated project delivery

■  Relationships and partnerships

■  Sustainable development

■  Market leadership and innovation

■  People

■  Corporate governance

Delivering land for
residential and
industrial uses

Financial performance

Supporting Government policy

Private sector
  partnerships

Advisory services
    to Government

Climate change

Supply chain
sustainability

Government
   partnerships

Customer
   satisfaction

Energy

Biodiversity

Waste

Water

Economic development

A�ordability
Community
engagement

Indigenous
opportunity

and relationships

Community development

Cultural heritage and identity

Liveability

Design quality

Diversity

Research

Demonstration
and innovation 

Use of industry
assessment tools

Employee satisfaction
and wellbeing  

Employee learning
and development   

Employee diversity
and inclusion   

O�ce sustainability

Governance

Risk management

Occupational safety and health

A materiality process has been used for the past three years as part of our commitment to the Global Reporting 
Initiative (GRI) Sustainability Reporting Framework. Material issues are significant and important social, environmental 
and economic issues to develop strategies to work towards and report against.

Our material issues reflect our significant economic, environmental and social impacts and are informed and prioritised 
by business strategy, regulation, risk and the views of our stakeholders.

All of the material issues identified in the materiality map below are important and significant for LandCorp to develop 
strategies for, work towards and report performance against. The map demonstrates the relative priority for each issue. 
The significance of each issue is illustrated in colour with the priority ratings increasing from the centre outwards.

In this Report we have focused on reporting our performance against the top eight material issues as well as community 
engagement and demonstration and innovation from the next tier of priority. The performance information in the 
next section of this report is organised by the material area categories: integrated project delivery, relationships and 
partnerships, sustainable developments, market leadership and innovation and corporate governance. Performance 
information across all of our material issues can be found in our sustainability report available online. 

Materiality Map
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Delivering	land	for	residential	and	industrial uses
Urban regeneration	in	metropolitan	Perth
Commitment
Activity in and around metropolitan Perth is largely 
focussed on urban renewal and back filling development 
within established suburbs. This approach responds to 

Government policy and allows us to optimise existing 
community infrastructure and create communities with 
good access to public transport and amenity.

Performance

In 2015-16, we delivered 1,726 
dwelling unit equivalents across 
the Perth metropolitan area, just 
below our target to deliver land 
for 1,850 dwelling unit equivalents 
(1,480 dwelling unit equivalents 
were delivered in 2014-15). Our 
initial target included releases at 
two projects that did not release 
land as planned due to challenges 
in identifying the most appropriate 
development model and delays 
in obtaining planning approval. 
In addition, due to the slowing 
property market in Perth’s northern 
corridor, releases at Alkimos and 
Eglinton were slightly below their 
forecast targets. However, the 
Springs exceeded targets with 
developers increasing the number 
of dwellings originally planned for 
the site.

Claremont on the Park

Actual 

1,726	
dwelling unit equivalents created  

(based on land released)

Target 

1,868	
dwelling unit 
equivalents

Metropolitan dwelling unit equivalents released in 2015-16 by project

THE SPRINGS, 
RIVERVALE (154)

KNUTSFORD (3)

THE RISE, CRAIGIE (60)

LEIGHTON BEACH (64)

ALKIMOS BEACH (77)

ALLARA, EGLINTON (102)

COCKBURN  
CENTRAL WEST (500)

HAMILTON HILL, 
COCKBURN COAST (28)

BLACKMORE, 
GIRRAWHEEN (101)

WGV AT WHITE GUM VALLEY (97)

THE ASSEMBLY, COOLBELLUP (56)

PERRY LAKES, FLOREAT (162)

ST JOHNS WOOD,  
MT CLAREMONT (59)

CLAREMONT ON THE PARK (140)

SEVILLE GROVE, 
ARMADALE (13)

CHAMPION LAKES, 
ARMADALE (58)

ROCKINGHAM  
CITY CENTRE (52)

INTEGRATED PROJECT DELIVERY

6.1 INTEGRATED PROJECT DELIVERY

Our purpose

To realise the potential of land and property we take a long-term view of State-wide needs and Government policy 
directions. Acquisitions and developments facilitate residential land in centres of activity, and well-located and 
connected industrial and commercial land throughout metropolitan and regional Western Australia.
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Areas of urban regeneration can 
include all of the Central Sub-region, 
including the station precincts 
and activity corridors identified 
by Perth and Peel @ 3.5 million 
and areas in the outer sub regions, 
with good access to transport and 
community facilities. 

This includes activity centre projects, 
where densities above the current 
zoning are achieved. 

The completion of the Pocket, 
Georgiou's apartment development 
at Claremont on the Park, delivered 
95 dwellings. In total, the project is 
expected to deliver 750 dwellings. 

Redevelopment of the former 
Shenton Park Rehabilitation Hospital 
will create more than 1,600 dwellings 
and feature 20 per cent public open 
space, with fire-managed bushland. 
The completion of our community 
engagement process will enable 
progression of the Improvement 
Scheme for this project.

The transformation of three former 
school sites in Coolbellup, being 
delivered in partnership with 
Lendlease, is well advanced.  
These vibrant new communities 
feature outdoor play spaces for  
the whole community. The Primary, 
the first of the three redevelopments, 
was completed in 2013 and was the 
recipient of the 2015 UDIA Award 
for the Residential Development 
under 250 lots category. 

Following the success of The 
Primary, The Playground offered 
diversity in housing and land as well 
as unique and inviting open spaces 
and parks. The Assembly, the final 
development, will house an aged 
care facility by Bethanie with more 
than half of this development to meet 
local demand for aging in place. 

In a challenging sales environment, 
strong sales have been achieved 
at The Vive in the suburb of 
Craigie where transformation of 
the former Senior High School is 
providing housing opportunities 
for 400 people. Similar results have 
been experienced at The Rise in 
Camberwarra, and Blackmore Park 
Girrawheen – both infill developments 
in Perth’s northern corridor. The Vive 
comprises a land area of 10.1 hectares 
in an established residential suburb 
that will yield 180 dwelling units. 

The recent opening of parklands 
and the release of multi-residential 
development land at Shoreline, the 
first stage of our redevelopment 
of Cockburn Coast, marked an 
important milestone in transforming 
this underutilized coastline in South 
Coogee. Stage 1 was launched in April 
2015 and subsequent sales have been 
strong. It is estimated the project 
will attract $4.9 billion in private 
investment and create substantial 
multiplier effects throughout the 
economy, including increased demand 
for construction goods and services 
and housing-related economic 

activity. The flow-on effect of this 
direct $4.9 billion in investment is 
expected to equate to approximately 
$13.7 billion by the end of the project. 

Our work in and around activity 
centres will ultimately deliver 
higher density residential living 
opportunities, housing diversity 
and amenity close to existing 
transport links.

Work at Cockburn Central West 
is scheduled for completion in 
March 2017 with six lots already 
under contract.

The Bassendean Activity Centre 
development agreement between 
the Town of Bassendean and Swan 
Districts Football club was approved 
in September 2015. It comprises three 
key sites, which will provide new 
housing and improved facilities for 
the Bassendean community. 

Mandurah Junction, a 15 hectare site 
adjacent to Mandurah Train Station, is 
being planned to support a population 
of 2,000 people and includes 9,500 
square metres of retail and commercial 
space. Stage 1 has sold out, four lots 
remain in Stage 2 and demand is 
strong for the release of Stage 3.

In challenging market conditions, 
Alkimos Beach and Allara Eglinton 
sales performed strongly, with over 
half of our metropolitan single lot 
residential sales coming from these 
two projects.

Project highlights

Claremont on the Park - Timelapse March 2016

INTEGRATED PROJECT DELIVERY
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Case study   

Coolbellup – The Primary 
Along with our partner Lendlease 
we are transforming three former 
school sites in the established 
suburb of Coolbellup. This is in 
line with the State Government’s 
Directions 2031 and Beyond 
policy which sets the principles to 
accommodate future population 
growth with a focus on increasing 
the density in urban infill areas. 

The regeneration of the former 
Coolbellup Primary School site, 
The Primary, was the first of three 
redevelopments occurring in 
Coolbellup and was completed 
in 2013. The second, the former 
North Lake High School site, The 
Playground, was completed  
in 2014. The third, the former 
Koorilla Primary School site,  
The Assembly, is nearing 
completion with the first releases 
expected in 2016.

In August 2015, The Primary won 
an Urban Development Institute of 
Australia WA Award (UDIA) in the 
Residential Development under 
250 lots category.

Planning for the site focused on 
delivering diversity and affordable 
housing options for people and 
families of all ages, as well as for 
those wishing to age in place. The 
4.7 hectare site delivered a higher 
density than the surrounding area 
with 58 single residential lots of a 
range of sizes and two grouped 
housing sites.

Key to the success of this urban 
regeneration project was the 
improvement and investment 
in the public realm. The higher 
density living was complemented 
with unique and usable public 
open space (POS) which provides 
amenity for residents of The 
Primary as well as enhanced 
amenity, walkability and connection 
to the surrounding neighbourhood.

In total, 21 per cent of the 
subdivision area was dedicated 
to POS. This delivered on the 
commitment made by the State 
Government for the creation 
of 3.79 hectares of POS. It 
included a central urban square, 
large bushland reserve and a 

feature walkway incorporating a 
mature Tuart tree believed to be 
150 years old.

Informed by a detailed tree study 
and by local Indigenous elder 
consultation, lot design enabled 
the retention of significant mature 
trees while other vegetation was 
relocated and replanted on site. 
In total, 122 Grass trees, 13 mature 
Coral trees and over 40 mature 
trees were retained or transplanted. 
In addition 5,476 new plants (with 
4,792 endemic to Perth and the 
South West) were planted.

The public art celebrate the role 
the school played in the community 
and included replica giant pencils, 
a giant apple for the teacher made 
from recycled timber, ‘Old Canteen’ 
Park engraved in the retaining 
wall for the sand pit, a climbing 
tree, school chairs which form a 
park bench, hopscotch template 
inscribed into the pavement and 
inscribed tree grates with  
words found within the previous 
school building prior to 
its demolition.

INTEGRATED PROJECT DELIVERY
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Rejuvenating the regions
Commitment
Our work across regional Western 
Australia optimises each region’s 
potential and aims to attract and 
retain permanent populations, 
support job growth and boost 
economic development.

We continue to play a major part 
in the State’s development agenda 
providing people living, working and 
visiting regional Western Australia 
with permanent, sustainable 
communities.

COOLGARDIE TOWN (1)

ALBANY TOWN  
CENTRE (20)

EXMOUTH TOWNSITE (1)

LOCAL REGIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT 
ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 
(RDAP) (32)

BARRARDA ESTATE, ONSLOW (66)

BATAVIA COAST MARINA STAGE 2, 
GERALDTON (56)

HALLS CREEK TOWN (1)

WARANYJARRI ESTATE, BROOME NORTH (22)

Performance
In 2015-16 we surpassed our target 
of 180 dwelling unit equivalents, 
delivering land for 199 dwelling unit 
equivalents. This was a reduction 
when compared to 2014-15 where 
we delivered 397 dwelling unit 
equivalents. This was a result of 
reduced regional demand primarily 
due to changes in the resource 

sector, including lower commodity 
prices and a transition from 
construction to operation in the 
north west of the State. LandCorp 
has land available on the market, and 
has planning approvals in place to 
deliver additional land in the Pilbara 
and Kimberley to respond to market 
upswings.

199 dwelling unit equivalents were 
created (based on land released) 
as part of our regional program. 
Of this, 145 dwelling unit equivalents 
were created as part of the Regional 
Development Assistance Program 
(RDAP), and 32 dwelling unit 
equivalents created as part of the 
Local RDAP program.

Target 

180 
dwelling unit 
equivalents

Actual 

199	
dwelling unit 

equivalents created  
(based on  

land released)

Regional dwelling unit equivalents released in 2015-16 by project

INTEGRATED PROJECT DELIVERY
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INTEGRATED PROJECT DELIVERY
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Project highlights

Our Regional Program, delivers 
land, infrastructure and revitalised 
town centres to support the 
development of permanent, 
sustainable communities. We do this 
by delivering land and infrastructure 
directly or by facilitating outcomes 
by working in collaboration with 
other Government agencies.

Current examples of this are Regional 
Blueprints, which continue to 
inform our business development 
priorities, and Regional Centres 
Development Plans where we are 
project managing the delivery of 
growth plans for Broome, Geraldton, 
Bunbury and Kalgoorlie. This work 
is undertaken in collaboration 
with the Regional Development 
Council and the Department of 
Regional Development as lead 
agency.

We continue to engage with 
key stakeholders, including the 
City of Bunbury, the South West 
Development Commission and the 
community on the city changing 
Bunbury Waterfront development. 

The first site to be developed is 
Koombana North, 1.3 hectares 
located on the Koombana Bay 
waterfront. Landscaping of the 
adjoining foreshore is complete and 
offers improved public access to the 
beach with new viewing platforms, 
a boardwalk and grassed BBQ area. 
Lot 1 Koombana North, the project’s 
signature site, is currently under 

offer with settlement anticipated in 
late 2016.

Stage 2 of Geraldton's Batavia Coast 
Marina development has commenced 
with the amalgamation of land 
previously owned by City of Greater 
Geraldton, Mid West Development 
Commission, Public Transport 
Authority and LandCorp into a six 
hectare precinct. The redevelopment 
will ultimately offer a mix of 
commercial, residential and tourism 
developments.

Station Square at Batavia Coast Marina 
(southern parcel) was previously 
used as railway marshalling yards 
and required significant remediation. 
Remediation works commenced at 
the beginning of 2016 and are now 
complete.

Since Pilbara Cities launched in 
November 2009, a substantial 
amount of work has been completed. 
The opening of The Quarter, 
Karratha’s new Town Centre 
development in June 2016 has set a 
new benchmark for development in 
the Pilbara. A development ready 
site for the new Health Campus will 
be completed by mid-2016 and City 
Centre infrastructure works are on 
schedule for completion by 2017. The 
radical transformation of this region is 
now well advanced to provide liveable 
communities with modern services to 
attract and retain families and workers 
for generations to come.

We are working with the Town of 

Port Hedland to redevelop the old 
Port Hedland Hospital site into a 
residential, retail and commercial hub. 
A sales contract has been executed 
for the former hospital site along 
with the preparation and lodgement 
of a Development Application 
for Stage 1 of the development. 
Stage 1 will consist of a residential 
complex comprising 109 residential 
apartments with ground floor 
commercial tenancies.

Revitalisation of the South Hedland 
Town Centre is underway. Works 
include the creation of a new main 
street, an attractive Town Square 
with public open space, the creation 
of medium density mixed use 
lots, upgrades to street drainage, 
the re-alignment of major roads, 
landscape treatments, artworks 
and underground servicing to 
facilitate development ready land for 
investment.

We have remediated the 1.1 hectare 
site of the former Albany Gasworks 
on Princess Royal Drive to return 
productive land use to this once 
contaminated site. It is currently 
zoned tourist/residential.

The public comment period for 
Middleton Beach development in 
Albany has concluded and a Local 
Planning Scheme Amendment 
and Structure Plan for the site was 
unanimously endorsed by the City 
of Albany Council. This is now ready 
for Western Australian Planning 
Commission approval.



Economic and 
Employment land	
Commitment
We play a role in supporting the 
growth of Western Australia’s 
economy by providing sufficient, 
well-located and well-connected 
industrial and commercial land across 
Western Australia. Our commercial 
and industrial estates help build more 
permanent populations, provide 
economic growth and employment 
opportunities, as well as providing 
improved amenities and services.

Australian Marine Complex

Performance
In 2015-16 we surpassed our target of 
20 general industrial lots, delivering 
36 lots (58 lots were delivered in 
2014-15). Our Crossroads Industrial 
project in Forrestdale delivered 19 
lots and Rockingham Industrial Zone 
deliveered 17 lots. The key challenge 
in delivering industrial land was 
the slowing economic conditions 
across Western Australia. Business 
investment has been declining in 

the last two years with several large 
LNG projects in the final construction 
stages. This has had a spill over 
effect on the rest of the Western 
Australian economy impacting 
business confidence in non-resource 
industries. LandCorp is well placed 
to respond to an uplift in demand 
with industrial land available for sale 
across the State.

In addition to our general industrial 
lots, 22 light industrial lots were 
created (based on land released) 
across six regional towns.

Target 

20 
general industrial lots

Actual 

36 
general industrial lots 

created (based on  
land released)

Crossroads Industrial, Forrestdale

INTEGRATED PROJECT DELIVERY
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Enterprise Park

INTEGRATED PROJECT DELIVERY
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2015-16 was a watershed year for our 
Economic and Employment Lands 
program. Closing out Enterprise 
Park in Wangara represented more 
than 25 years of development. Over 
its lifetime the estate has grown to 
become a major commercial, trade 
and employment catalyst in the 
region, providing quality industrial 
land to more than 250 businesses 
and generating more than 10,000 
jobs. As a result of its strong 
economic, design and lifestyle focus, 
it was named the best industrial 
park in the country at the national 
Property Council of Australia awards 
in June 2016.

In addition to the completion of 
Enterprise Park Wangara, development 
at Cockburn Commercial Park, was 
completed as lots within this estate 
sold out. It was also successfully 
remediated using an innovative 
new technology called dynamic 
compaction.

In November 2015, Rockingham 
Industry Zone received UDIA 
EnviroDevelopment certification, 
becoming the first industrial estate 
in Western Australia and the third 
National recipient.

Construction works on Stage 1, a 
19 hectare parcel at the 412 hectare 
Broome Road Industrial Park, is now 
complete and will ultimately deliver 
412 hectares of general industrial land 
designed to service the growing town 
of Broome and the West Kimberley 
region with access to the Great 
Northern Highway and the Broome 
Port. By providing this industrial 
land we are providing opportunities 
for local business to support large-
scale gas projects in the Browse 
and Canning Basins, such as the 
$12 billion Shell Prelude project and 
the $34 billion Inpex Ichthys project.

Earthworks and civil works construction 
has commenced for Stage 4 of the 
Newman Light Industrial Estate with 
planning underway for future light 
industrial area land. 

In the Perth metropolitan area, 
since the initial release in July 2014, 
Crossroads Industrial in Forrestdale 
Stage 1 has sold out and over 50 per 
cent of Stage 2 sold by June 2016. 
Activity continued in and around the 
Western Trade Coast in Henderson 
which houses the Australian Marine 
Complex, Latitude 21 Industry Zone 
and Rockingham Industry Zone. 

Structure plan approval in 2016 for 
Latitude 32 Development Areas 2 
and 4 will allow us to progress the 
next stages of this important precinct 
and our acquisition of the Cockburn 
Cement site will help to activate 
the precinct.

At Flinders Precinct within Latitude 
32, 70 per cent of lots have been 
sold. At neighbouring Rockingham 
Industry Zone 30 per cent of available 
land has sold. In the South West at 
Pinjarra Industrial Estate, 60 per cent 
of lots have sold. These sales have 
been achieved in a slow but steady 
market which makes them more 
than encouraging. Similar results 
were experienced at economic and 
employment hubs across the State.

The future challenge is delivering 
the next generation of economic 
and employment land. This process 
is well underway at developments 
like Meridian Park at Neerabup and 
Nambeelup in the Peel region, part 
of the Transform Peel initiative of 
which Phase 1 will create services for 
290 hectares of the business park 
as well as research into power and 
water planning.

Project highlights



Case study   

Enterprise Park, Wangara – 
economic development 

Enterprise Park was completed in 
2015, five years ahead of schedule. 
The estate was commissioned to 
address the regional imbalance of 
industrial land in the 1980's and to 
enable us to respond to the lack 
of employment opportunities and 
industrial sites in Perth’s growing 
northern corridor. 

Enterprise Park’s substantial, 
positive economic outcomes 
validate our foresight in establishing 
the project when we did. From the 
outset, in the 1980's, the project 
had a clear purpose and long-
term vision – to service a growing 
community for the decades 
that followed.

Today the estate’s 182 hectares of 
developed industrial land hosts 
more than 250 businesses. Since its 
inception it has delivered more than 
10,000 local jobs.

Prior to the development, 
a 1976 census showed that 
only 11 per cent of the City of 
Wanneroo’s 55,000 residents 

were employed locally – a very low 
figure which the project aimed to 
address. Today close to 40 per cent 
of the City’s employed residents 
work locally. 

The social benefits of local 
employment opportunities are 
clear. An area which was once seen 
as being ‘too far north’ is now a 
thriving community. The success 
of the estate prompted further 
residential developments, with 
residents attracted to extensions 
and improvements to associated 
transport infrastructure, and the 
presence of established amenities 
and employment opportunities in 
their local community.

Overall, this project has supported 
the State through the generation  
of more than $37 billion in economic 
contribution over the life of the 
development, this from an initial 
infrastructure investment of 
$213 million.  

An estimated 5 million cubic 
metres of sand was extracted from 
Enterprise Park and recycled for 
reuse in the local building supplies 
market – helping to satisfy the high 

demand for good quality sand 
within the construction industry. 

The main and local drainage 
systems at Enterprise Park, 
as well as a fully contained 
sewerage system, had been 
designed to protect the 
groundwater reserves, while also 
being considerate of wildlife in the 
area. An extensive landscaping 
program also resulted in the 
retention of local birdlife.

Enterprise Park was also the 
first industrial project in WA to 
introduce formal design guidelines 
implemented through development 
checklists, which provided a user-
friendly set of planning criteria to 
ensure a consistent, high standard 
of built form which is energy, water 
and resource efficient.

The long term view undertaken by 
LandCorp was recognised in June 
2016, when Enterprise Park won 
the National Property Council of 
Australia Best Business or Industrial 
Park Award. The project was 
recognised for the efficient use 
of capital in a new or refurbished 
industrial park development.

INTEGRATED PROJECT DELIVERY
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Government advisory services
Commitment
Property advice is provided through 
our Government services section, 
seeking to optimise the benefits 
of surplus Government assets. The 
objective is to provide significant 
value to State and local government 
agencies by assisting with due 
diligence, investigations, marketing 
and selling sites, or by acquiring and 
developing sites. In addition, property 
and project management services are 
provided that include rezoning and 
the remediation of contaminated sites. 

Performance 
In 2015-16 a broad range of property 
services to Government were 
provided at cost recovery rates. 
This program of work resulted in 
the following outcomes:

• Sold 14 properties on behalf of 
Government grossing $14.99 
million;

• Currently have 28 Government 
properties, with an estimated value 
of $28 million, on the market;

• Have 49 Government properties, 
worth approximately $35 million, 
being progressed towards 
disposal; and

• Project managed the investigation 
of contamination issues for 19 sites 
for other State agencies.

We are also de-constraining and 
managing the disposal of various 
other properties identified by 
Government as being surplus. 
These sites include the Industrial 
Foundation for Accident Prevention 
(IFAP) North Lake, Cottesloe Deaf 
School, Department of Agriculture 
and Food Western Australia’s 
Forrestfield, Medina and Kensington 
sites, a portion of the Claremont 
Oval, the former Swan Districts 
Hospital, the former Old Perth Girls 
School, and the former Woodside 

Maternity Hospital. In addition to this, 
services have also been provided to 
the Department of Lands to assist in 
the identification of potential surplus 
Government Assets. 

Other significant Government 
Services work completed in 2015-16 
included supporting the Department 
of Planning with land assembly and 
land use planning for the Forrestfield 
Airport Link and completing a 
preliminary feasibility study for the 
City of Stirling on the Hertha Road 
land fill site.

Project management of the 
development of the St John’s Wood 
site in Mount Claremont is also being 
undertaken on behalf of the State 
and the City of Cambridge.

St Johns Wood

INTEGRATED PROJECT DELIVERY
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Customer and stakeholder satisfaction 
Commitment
Regular stakeholder and customer 
research is undertaken to provide 
greater insight into the needs 
and attitudes of our partners and 
purchasers. This is important for 
providing the Board, Executive and 
staff with information, insights and 
analysis to enable evidence-based, 
strategic decision making. On-
going and targeted customer and 
stakeholder research, combined 
with market research and a strategic 
research program, delivers improved 
outcomes for customers and partners 
and improves our competitive position. 

Performance 

2015 Ministerial Review 
Stakeholder Interviews
As part of an independent Ministerial 
Review, more than 100 Government 
and private sector stakeholders were 
engaged in in-depth interviews to 
gather feedback on our functions 
and performance. The stakeholder 
interviews informed the findings and 
recommendations of the Review 
which are outlined on pages 14-15.

Stakeholder research 
Stakeholder research was completed 
in October 2015 involving a qualitative 
telephone survey completed by 
172 stakeholders plus 30 in-depth 
interviews. The research achieved 
broad representation across 

government and industry. Overall 
the research was highly positive with 
results indicating the following:

• 92 per cent of stakeholders were 
satisfied with their relationship;

• more than half of those 
interviewed identified that their 
relationship was better than 12 
months prior;

• LandCorp achieved a positive net 
promoter score;

• 87 per cent of stakeholders rated 
our performance positively; and

• stakeholders are satisfied for a 
diverse range of reasons.

Our experience, long-term focus, 
leadership and ability to deliver 
on difficult or complex projects 
was held in high regard, along 
with our innovative capabilities 
and overall trustworthiness. In 
addition, stakeholders believed that 
staff were easy to talk to, capable, 
knowledgeable and accessible, as 
well as being responsive, honest 
and professional. We were seen 
to balance commercial and public 
outcomes, and effectively engage 
with communities to produce quality 
outcomes. Our most important 
functions were seen to include taking 
on difficult projects, industrial land 
development and demonstrating 
market leadership and innovation.

Stakeholders 
held in high 

regard LandCorp’s 
experience, 

long-term focus, 
leadership and 

ability to deliver on 
difficult or complex 
projects, along with 

our innovative 
capabilities 
and overall 

6.2 RELATIONSHIPS AND PARTNERSHIPS

Purpose
We collaborate, partner and work with all levels of Government, industry, communities and customers as we seek to 
better understand and respond to our stakeholder's needs, constraints, concerns and expectations.

RELATIONSHIPS AND PARTNERSHIPS
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From the stakeholder survey, there 
were common themes identified by 
customer groups where we have 
the opportunity to improve our 
performance. These were:

• continue to enhance communication 
and collaboration with stakeholders;

• continue to improve perceptions 
around efficiency and flexibility;

• make greater strides to inform 
stakeholders of our business 
outcomes success; and

• maintain focus on generating 
financial returns, asset disposal, 
creating activity centres around 
transport hubs, supply of 
industrial land, urban infill and 
demonstrating market leadership 
and innovation.

Specific action items arising from the 
survey included:

• review our processes and explore 
options to enhance efficiency 
and flexibility to improve our 
responsiveness;

• improve our stakeholder 
communications to ensure our 
stakeholders are apprised of all 
project challenges and understand 
what is involved in project delivery;

• continue to improve our 
relationship building and 
communication skills;

• engage stakeholders early and 
actively ask for feedback; and

• continue to communicate 
innovation initiatives and seek 
opportunities to collaborate 
with our stakeholders in the 
delivery of projects.

Post Purchase Research
All residential customers who recently 
signed a contract to purchase land in 
a LandCorp estate are contacted by 
telephone on a quarterly basis and 
invited to complete a post purchase 
survey. The 2015 end of year post 
purchase survey results revealed 
that from the first customer touch 
point to the end, the overwhelming 
majority of purchasers were satisfied 
with our performance. Results 
indicated that:

• 89 per cent of customers 
were satisfied; 

• 94 per cent were satisfied with the 
sales agent;

• 100 per cent were satisfied with 
the sales offices;

• nine in 10 customers identified as 
satisfied with the level of service 
and the settlement process; and

• we achieved a positive net 
promoter score.

Overall, 89 per cent of clients were 
satisfied with the purchase process 
and 90 per cent were likely to 
recommend LandCorp to others. 

From the post purchase survey, there 
were common themes identified by 
customer groups where we have 
the opportunity to improve our 
performance. These were:

• continued improvement of 
marketing materials;

• greater assistance interpreting 
design guidelines; and

• greater awareness and information 
of emerging delays.

These themes are being closely 
monitored to gauge the effectiveness 
of recent improvement measures 
implemented such as a new design 
guidelines template which provides 
clear and consistent information and 
outlines benefits for residents and the 
community. Also, additional questions 
have been included in the 2016 
survey to improve our understanding 
of the issues raised.

In early 2016, research was initiated 
to understand our industrial 
purchaser/occupier motivations. 
This will improve our understanding 
of what our industrial buyers and 
recent estate occupiers think about 
their choice to move into a LandCorp 
industrial estate, how our estate 
affects their business operations and 
how this impacts on our business 
in the future. The research will also 
assist in determining how we can 
best improve these estates and 
highlight any specific areas that 
require improvement. We will share 
the findings and insights in future 
annual reports.

RELATIONSHIPS AND PARTNERSHIPS
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Design quality and liveability

6.3 SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Our purpose

We define ‘sustainable development’ through the integration of our four sustainability elements: environmental 
responsibility, community wellbeing, design excellence and economic health. The elements form our framework to 
achieve positive outcomes across a diverse portfolio of projects. We recognise that by considering these elements 
across the lifecycle of our projects, from project start-up to end-use, we improve our ability to create long-term value 
by delivering more sustainable outcomes for the Western Australian community.

Commitment
We believe design excellence is an 
essential part of every project from 
start to finish. Having a good design 
process enables us to distil the 
knowledge and evidence about a 
place, its communities and its future. 
Having a good understanding of 
the intrinsic qualities of a place 
helps us build on the opportunities 
it offers, making the most of the 
investment in the development, 
and creating a strong place based 
vision for the area. We see design 
as an avenue to find solutions 
that address complex challenges 
to improve social, economic and 
environmental outcomes.

Applicable to all our developments, 
from mixed-use to industrial, the 

Design reviews
A project design review process 
has been running for more than 
eight years and has made a valuable 
contribution to the improvement 
of design outcomes in our 
development projects. The process 
is now due for review to ensure 
that our internal process is aligned 
with Government policy. We are 
currently participating in a forum 

on the Planning Reform for Better 
Design policy, being developed by 
the Department of Planning and the 
Office of the Government Architect, 
which is investigating ways to 
provide more consistent guidance 
to improve design outcomes in 
urban developments.

To further improve our design 
review process we are developing a 
program of project design reviews 
to be undertaken prior to our 
overall project reviews. This will 
make a valuable contribution to the 
assessment of our development 
projects and ensure that design 
issues are considered in an 
integrated way along with other 
project objectives. Design reviews 
undertaken in 2015-16 are outlined in 
Table 2.

key themes of diversity, liveability, 
cultural heritage and identity, and 
design quality are always critical 
considerations. We have found 
that thinking about these issues in 
an integrated way from the outset 
provides the best opportunity 
to improve outcomes for each 
development project.

Mandurah Junction
Artist impression for illustrative purposes only. 
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Project Date and type of 
design review

Focus areas for improvement

Cockburn Central –  
mixed-use 
developments

Independent Review  
13 July 2015

Focus areas for improvement included future conversion of 
study rooms into bedrooms, cross ventilation, and additional 
privacy measures.

Mandurah Junction –  
apartment 
development

Internal Review 
22 July 2015

Focus areas for improvement included providing adequate  
shading and additional groundcover and trees to mitigate the  
urban heat island effect.

Shenton Park –  
residential development

Independent Review 
29 July 2015

Focus areas for improvement included giving further consideration 
to the topography across the site, the external street edges and 
pedestrian linkages, urban form and internal street edges and 
integration of the retail node. 

Batavia Coast Marina 
Stage 2, Geraldton –  
mixed use development

Independent Review 
8 October 2015

Focus areas for improvement included further consideration of  
the east to west connections through the site, northern connections 
to landmark heritage sites, and southern connections to the CBD,  
as well as the public realm and the opportunities to mediate the heat 
island effect through surface finishes and materials.

WGV at White Gum 
Valley – mixed use 
development

Internal Review 
21 October 2015

Focus areas for improvement included ensuring sufficient 
surveillance to the central courtyard and other public areas  
and reinforcing detailing to the building.

Cockburn Central –  
mixed use 
development

Internal and 
Independent Review 
14 January 2016

Focus areas for improvement included cross ventilation, further 
integration of some materials and finishes and additional balcony 
privacy measures.

Table 2 Design reviews in 2015-16

SECTION 06  |  OUR PERFORMANCE  |  33

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT



Design guidelines
A Design Guideline Template 
provides a mechanism for the 
development of project specific 
design guidelines for a range of 
development types across the State 
including, residential, mixed-use and 
industrial projects. The template 

provides guidance on building 
design and performance as well as 
landscaping design which is tailored 
to the specific location and climatic 
conditions. The information provided 
in design guidelines is informed by 
policy and research as well as by 

project specific site and context data 
and is supplemented by diagrams, 
images and photographs to make 
them user friendly. Templates 
are reviewed regularly to update 
information as new research and 
data becomes available.

Project Design focus

WGV at White Gum 
Valley (residential)

Focus is on design quality and climate responsive design as well as building performance 
in particular energy (minimum requirement for all homes to reach a 7 star NatHERS rating 
for energy efficiency) and water efficiency.

Shenton Park 
(residential/mixed-use)

Focus is on design quality, building scale and form, site planning, orientation and setbacks 
as well as interface with the public realm and neighbourhood character including 
integration of heritage and culture.

Murdoch Mixed Use 
Precinct (mixed-use)

Focus is on the desired urban character and urban realm.

Cockburn Central West 
(residential/mixed-use)

Focus is on diversity and amenity, interface with public spaces, site planning, orientation 
and setbacks, climate responsive design and landscape.

Batavia Coast Marina, 
Stage 2, Geraldton 
(mixed-use)

Focus is on the interface with the public realm, building heights, setbacks, environmental 
design and water sensitive urban design.

Claremont on the Park 
(residential/mixed-use)

Focus is on active edges, access and parking, architectural character and facades, interface 
with the oval, building entrances and environmental design.

Table 3 Design guidelines developed in 2015-16

 
Research relationship
The Australian Urban Design 
Research Centre (AUDRC) and 
LandCorp have a Memorandum 
of Understanding (MoU) (2014-
17) for urban design research. 
The MoU provides opportunities for 
understanding the specific design 
challenges for urban infill sites in 
older post-industrial suburbs. It 
includes research and development 
in the areas of affordable housing, 
urban design and integrated 
infrastructure systems.

Key outcomes this year include a 
detailed analysis of the Knutsford 
District. This work, undertaken 
in collaboration with the City of 
Fremantle, culminated in design 
guidance documents and a number 
of key design principles which have 
provided valuable insights into the 
character and unique post-industrial 
history of the area which will help to 
inform future thinking and possible 
design scenarios.
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Water 
Commitment
We have a commitment to protect 
water resources, reduce water use 
and promote water recycling. We 
acknowledge the importance of 
water conservation and efficiency 
in our drying climate, where the 
groundwater supply is already 
under pressure.

Performance 

Urban water management 
The State Government policy Better 
Urban Water Management sets the 
framework for the development 
of integrated water management 
strategies. It is through consideration 
of, and compliance with, this policy 
and the development of project 
urban water management strategies 
that we plan for water conservation 
and efficiency, aiming to minimise 
domestic and public open space 
irrigation demands.

While we do not have operational 
control over water consumption 
after construction, we seek to 
influence end use (i.e. household 
and commercial) water efficiency 
and source substitution through 
research relationships, mandatory 
and recommended criteria 
in design guidelines, and 
demonstration projects. 

Co-operative Research Centre for 
Water Sensitive Cities 

The Co-operative Research  
Centre for Water Sensitive Cities 
(CRCWSC) is a nine year national 
research program. LandCorp is 
a contributing partner and has 
committed $50,000 per year for 
three years (2013-16). The research is 
focused on how to make Australian 
cities and towns more water sensitive, 
resilient, liveable and healthy.

Last year there were a series of 
workshops held by the CRCWSC 
researchers for the project 
‘Developing a Vision for Perth as a 
Water Sensitive City’. The resulting 
report was: ‘Shaping Perth as a 
Water Sensitive City: Outcomes and 
perspectives from a participatory 
process to develop a vision and 
strategic transition framework’. 
The report is available at: http://
watersensitivecities.org.au/wp-
content/uploads/2015/01/A4.2-
PerthWSCReport-Final-WEB.pdf 

The report recommendations have 
six areas of focus for enabling 
the transition to a water sensitive 
city, they are: shared vision and 
message; community mandate; 
leadership; governance; professional 
culture and capacity; and research 
and technology. 

Following the report’s release there 
have been further discussions on the 
implementation plan and LandCorp 
has put forward opportunities and 
initiatives for achieving the vision. 
The LandCorp initiatives included 
WGV Waterwise Development 
Exemplar and the proposed Water 
Sensitive Precinct at Batavia Coast 
Marina Stage 2.

Water Sensitive City ideas for 
Batavia Coast Marina
Through our partnership with the 
CRCWSC, a workshop was held in 
December 2014 in Geraldton for the 
Batavia Coast Marina Stage 2 project 
with our development partners, the 
City of Greater Geraldton and the 
MidWest Development Commission. 
The workshop culminated in the 
publication of an 'Ideas for Batavia 
Coast Marina Stage 2 Report' in March 
2015. The ideas, including an urban 
wetland, tree grove and storm water 
harvesting, have been adopted into 
the design for Station Square which 

will be the new central public realm 
and civic space. Stage 1 of this project 
consists of the construction of the 
north end of Monument Terrace and 
16 residential lots. Currently design 
work is progressing on the innovative 
integrated landscape and water 
sensitive concept for Stage 2.

Water management and innovation 
at WGV at White Gum Valley
In October 2015, WGV achieved 
Waterwise Development status 
from the Water Corporation. This 
requires 20 per cent reduction on 
statutory compliance. WGV is aiming 
for a 70 per cent (30kl per resident) 
reduction in mains water use.

WGV will demonstrate a series 
of water innovations, including a 
community bore to irrigate public 
and private gardens, plumbed 
rainwater systems, water sensitive 
urban design, remediation of the 
drainage sump (completed in May 
2016) and waterwise landscaping. 

Working with Water Corporation, 
Josh Byrne and Associates, the 
Department of Water, the City of 
Fremantle, and Urban Development 
Institute of Australia (UDIA) we have 
committed to a three- year research 
project which will see WGV as a 
case study of best practice water 
efficiency and management.

WGV at White Gum Valley. 
Artist impression for illustrative 
purposes only.
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Energy 
Commitment
We have a commitment to reduce 
energy use, increase energy 
efficiency and identify and 
implement opportunities for 
renewable energy. We acknowledge 
that energy reduction and efficiency 
is an important carbon emissions 
mitigation strategy, as well as a 
strategy to lessen the impact of 
increasing energy costs, particularly 
electricity costs for our customers. 

Performance 

Fill minimisation methodology
In response to the lack of available fill 
for development in Western Australia, 
and the impact of importing fill on 
the feasibility of developments, we 
undertook to create and trial a fill 
minimisation methodology. The 
methodology provides a guide 
for the consideration of issues, 
opportunities and strategies to 
select the most cost effective and 
resource efficient approach to fill in 
our developments. It also includes the 
use of a Fill Register, which records 
fill requirements, surplus and costs, 
providing strategic oversight and 
the opportunity to achieve resource 
efficiency and cost effectiveness. 
Through this focus we expect to 
reduce excavation and material 
transportation from distant sources, 
reducing emissions and costs.

During 2015-16, the methodology 
was trialled on an urban regeneration 
project in the Perth metropolitan 
area. This involved the identification 
of site issues driving the traditional fill 
approach and proposing alternative 
solutions at the civil works stage 
by using lower roads and building 
envelopes. It is expected that the 
lessons from this trial will inform the 
future application of fill minimisation 
in our projects.

Project energy initiatives
Energy related initiatives and 
demonstration projects have 
been a focus during 2015-16. This 
focus includes reducing energy 
use, energy efficiency and energy 
production through: 

• Climate Responsive Design 
which guides subdivision layout 
to respond to local climate 
conditions. Through a more 
climate responsive design 
we expect to improve energy 
consumption (and mitigate 
carbon emissions) by reducing 
the need for mechanical heating 
and cooling.

• Design guidelines that include 
mandatory and recommended 
criteria for the development of 
energy efficiency buildings. 

• Rebates that include energy 
efficiency measures and renewable 
energy technology to improve the 
energy performance of buildings.

• Innovation through Demonstration 
projects which explore new energy 
efficiency and energy production 
technologies.

The Vive: Cool Earth Project
Artist impression is for illustrative 
purposes only.
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Alkimos Beach (Lendlease and LandCorp partnership) 

• Where possible climate responsive design was incorporated into the subdivision layout. 

• Design guidelines and the ‘Alkimos Beach – Your Guide to Smart Living’ information brochure encourages smart 
home design to ensure target savings of more than 50 per cent on home electricity and water bills. 

• Energy Smart Home Package provides sustainability incentives to residents to encourage savings on their home 
electricity bills and assists with reducing carbon emissions. The package includes a minimum 1KW solar panel 
system, real-time electricity monitor and rebates towards a solar hot water unit and air-conditioning unit. 

• In April 2016, the four year Solar and Community Battery Storage Trial was officially launched. The trial is a 
partnership between LandCorp, Lendlease, Synergy and the Australian Renewable Energy Agency (ARENA) and 
contains a fully contained lithium ion energy storage system of approximately 250 kilowatts peak / 1.1 megawatt-
hours. The battery was constructed during 2015 and delivered to site in December 2015. ARENA has provided 
funding of $3.3 million towards the trial with the total value of the project being $6.7 million).

Allara Eglinton (Satterley and LandCorp partnership) 

• Energy efficiency rebates valued at over $5,000 were available to all lots (potentially an uptake of 2,000 lots over 
the life of the project). The rebate includes either 1.5Kw or 3Kw (subject to lot size) PV cell energy monitors and 
smart meters, LED lights/ smart lights, smart thermostat and efficient air conditioning.

• During 2016 the construction of 15 houses commenced which included the energy rebates. The launch of the first 
Allara Eglinton display village occurred in May 2016, which demonstrated the inclusion of the energy rebates.

Pilbara Vernacular Demonstration Home

• Climate responsive design was used in the construction of the home.

• Building features and materials resulting in an 8.1 Star energy efficiency rating (NatHERS). Features include:

 high efficiency air conditioning and hot water systems, a 5kWh solar PV system, 2.8m high ceilings fans, and energy 
efficient light fittings and real time display environmental monitoring system.

• The Pilbara Vernacular House was included as part of the Josh’s House on the Road on-line video series, which 
is being produced as a part of the CRC for Low Carbon Living research project: High Performance Homes – 
Monitoring, Evaluating and Communicating the Journey. 

• The post occupancy performance of the house has been monitored during the five months of occupation. While, 
data was incomplete due to data collection issues, it demonstrated the following performance:    

 –  The solar system generated 69 per cent of the total energy consumption of the house with a total of 5,024kWh 
being produced.

 –  Almost 58 per cent of the electricity generated from the solar panels was consumed on-site.

 –  The solar panels contributed approximately $980 of savings and a carbon dioxide offset of 3,315 kilograms. 

 –  The home used 28 per cent less energy than the comparable average house in the Pilbara region over the 
monitoring period. This comparison was made with a similar sized house (based on number or rooms) and 
same number of occupants.

The following section outlines some of the energy initiatives underway.
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The	Quarter,	Karratha (Mirvac and LandCorp partnership) 

• Endeavours to achieve high passive performance and energy efficiency by implementing the Pilbara Vernacular 
Handbook principles.

• Stage 1 of the Karratha Quarter was completed in April 2016 and energy efficiency initiatives included:

 –  Commercial building designed to achieve a high thermal performance and efficiency (self-assessed 4 star 
Green Star and a 5 Star NABERS rating - the first building in the north west to achieve this rating).

 –  Passive climate responsive design elements include: decorative shading screens and fins to provide additional 
shading and narrow breezeways that allow the cooling winds to pass through the precinct whilst also 
providing shady walkways.

 –  The replanting of five large mature trees to provide instant shade.

 –  Two 100kW solar panel systems, one on the roof (installed in May 2016) and the other integrated into shade 
structures (installation commencing June 2016).

WGV at White Gum Valley

• Through energy efficient design, use of renewable energy and innovative technologies, WGV at White Gum Valley 
aims to reduce its grid energy consumption by 60 per cent as a whole, with single residential lot types achieving 
100 per cent (zero net annual energy) if they take advantage of the $10,000 Sustainability Package. 

• Climate responsive design principles embraced.

• Design guidelines set a minimum requirement for homes to reach a 7 star NatHERS rating for energy efficiency. 
They also require builders to install specific energy-saving initiatives such as solar hot water systems or heat pump 
technology and improved appliance and lighting efficiencies.

• $10,000 Sustainability Package for single residential lots to upgrade from the mandatory 1.5Kw to 3.5Kw PV and a 
rainwater tank and a mature tree.

• An Introduction Package encourages residents to apply sustainability practices, including energy efficiency 
strategies in their daily living, as well as free information and support.

• A four year research project by the Cooperative Research Centre for Low Carbon Living and Curtin University, 
City of Fremantle, Josh Byrne and Associates and LandCorp will see WGV at White Gum Valley become a 
‘living laboratory’, monitoring and assessing how energy efficient design, technology performance and occupant 
behaviour impact on the carbon footprint of the precinct. Research findings will be openly shared with the public 
to improve education and sustainable design in the future.

• WGV at White Gum Valley is home to Australia’s first shared solar and battery-storage micro grid trial as part of the 
site’s Gen Y Demonstration Housing Project and other apartment sites. The trial is a partnership between LandCorp, 
Curtin University, City of Fremantle, CRC for Low Carbon Living, Solar Balance, and Western Power and is part 
funded by the Australian Renewable Energy Agency (ARENA committed $900,000 with the total project valued at 
$2.6 million). The innovative trial allows strata properties on site to store power to batteries, reducing demand from 
the grid. Demonstration of this technology has the potential to unlock renewable energy options for thousands of 
Australians living in strata properties.

Broome North

• Climate responsive design was incorporated into the subdivision layout.

• Ten in-depth interviews were undertaken in mid-2015 to understand existing resident perspectives and experiences. 
The survey confirmed that residents felt the benefits of the design strategies to enable the movement of breezes 
through the estate providing the opportunity for cross-ventilation.

• A further post development breeze monitoring program will start in late 2016 and is expected to continue for one-
year. It aims to provide objective evidence of the impact of lot orientation on the movement of local breezes through 
the subdivision. The results of this research will inform our future planning for Broome North and will be shared 
through future reporting.
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Affordability
Commitment
We acknowledge the lack of 
affordable housing for Western 
Australians on low to moderate 
incomes and we are therefore 
committed to addressing affordability 
by supplying land in areas of market 

failure, delivering affordable land and 
housing options and implementing 
affordable living initiatives. LandCorp 
supports the State Government’s 
Affordable Housing Strategy 2010-
2020: Opening Doors to Affordable 

Housing which seeks to improve 
access to affordable housing by 
delivering a range of housing 
options for people on low to 
moderate incomes.

Metropolitan performance Regional performance

57 per cent of LandCorp lots were sold at or below the 
REIWA metropolitan median lot price of $261,000.

57 per cent of LandCorp lots were sold at or below the 
REIWA regional median lot price of $177,500.

25 per cent of LandCorp lots were sold at or below the 
REIWA metropolitan lower quartile lot price of $215,000.

27 per cent of LandCorp lots were sold at or below the 
REIWA regional lower quartile lot price of $135,000.

Note: Real Estate Institute of Western Australia (REIWA) data sourced directly from REIWA on 20 July 2016.

Table 4 2015-16 Affordable land and housing targets and performance 

The key metropolitan projects that delivered affordable outcomes in 2015-16 included Alkimos Beach, Allara in Eglinton, 
Seabreeze at Waikiki and Blackmore Park in Girrahween. Regionally the projects delivering affordability outcomes were 
GreenView at Karlkurla in Kalgoorlie, Barrarda Estate in Onslow and Waranyjarri Estate in Broome North.

In 2015 our Chief Executive challenged staff to deliver a $200,000 home for people struggling to enter the Western 
Australian property market. Our staff worked with partners to design land and housing solutions that we hope will 
achieve a home for close to the $200,000 target. In 2016, LandCorp has been working to deliver the affordable homes 
on sites at Blackmore Park, Girrawheen, and Seville Grove.

Performance

Affordable land and housing outcomes
Our target is to dedicate at least 15 per cent of our land and housing to supply affordable housing outcomes for those 
on low to moderate incomes. Using Housing Authority affordability price points for the sub regions of the metropolitan 
area, LandCorp delivered 46 per cent of its single residential metropolitan lots at or below an affordable price.

15% 46%
TARGET

We dedicate at least 15% of our land and housing to 
supply affordable housing outcomes for those on 
low to moderate incomes.

PERFORMANCE

46% of lots sold across metropolitan Perth in 2015-16 
sold at an affordable price.

The following table outlines our market relative affordability performance across the metropolitan area and regions.
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Working with others to facilitate 
affordable outcomes
In 2015-16 two partnership projects 
with the Housing Authority, at The 
Springs, Rivervale and Shoreline, 
Cockburn Coast, achieved significant 
milestones with sale contracts 
executed for a multi-residential lot 
at each site. In 2015-16 nine lots were 
sold to the Housing Authority.

For WGV at White Gum Valley 
LandCorp have partnered with 
Access Housing on the Sustainable 
Housing For Artists and Creatives 
(SHAC) affordable housing project. 
In 2015-16, as part of a research 
partnership to trial a micro grid in 
WGV, LandCorp agreed to fund half 
of the cost of installing solar PVs 
and battery storage infrastructure 
on the SHAC apartment building. 
The other half of the infrastructure 
cost being funded by the Australian 
Renewable Energy Agency (ARENA). 
This innovation initiative will ensure 
that the SHAC project also benefits 
from the cost of living savings 
potential of solar and battery storage 
infrastructure. In 2015-16 three 
lots for 46 dwellings were sold to 
Community Housing Providers.

Strategic research
A nation-wide study was 
commissioned into micro lot (under 
100 square metres) affordable 
housing using market data and 
interviews. The research principally 
explored the affordability and design 
outcomes associated with micro 
lots that had been introduced in 
South Australia and Queensland. 
The research showed that micro 
lots and associated housing are 
found in both greenfield and 
brownfield estates and are dispersed 
sporadically amongst other larger 
lot types. The research outlined the 
key ‘success factors’ for micro lot 
housing including good design to 
effectively use limited space, locating 
the lots close to public open space 
and employment or public transport, 
and achieving affordability outcomes 
(typically between 20 per cent and 
50 per cent more affordable than 
surrounding housing). The research 
also covered the main challenges 
associated with building micro lot 
housing and the planning restrictions 
on micro lots in Western Australia.
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Community engagement

Commitment 
We acknowledge the importance 
of involving the community from 
the early stages of planning to 
provide opportunities to positively 
influence development outcomes. 
We are committed to understanding 
and responding to community 
perspectives, values and aspirations. 
This includes listening, identifying 
and addressing expectations and 
concerns, maximising potential 
community benefits and building 
relationships.

Performance
Local community engagement 

Since the trial of online engagement 
in June 2014, our engagement 
website has increased opportunities 
for us to engage with the community 
on projects with higher social 
risk profiles. 20,600 visitors to 
the website have become better 
informed about how LandCorp 
delivers its projects and have had the 
opportunity to have their say. 

Communities have had the 
opportunity to provide input into 
shaping the Shenton Park Masterplan, 
Albany Middleton Beach Structure 
Plan; the Outline Development 

Plan for The Nursery Jolimont, the 
potential services and facilities for the 
Murdoch Mixed Use Activity Centre 
and most recently the revitalisation of 
Bassendean Town Centre.

Supporting the Regional Centres 
Development Program, growth 
partners in Kalgoorlie were invited 
to ‘have their say’ on the content of 
a Futures Forum to help develop 
their partnerships with the key 
stakeholders.

As part of the project governance 
structure for the redevelopment 
of Shenton Park Hospital, an 
interactive Community Reference 
Group was established to support 
the project’s Steering Committee 
and Senior Officers Working Group 
by representing and communicating 
the needs and interests of all 
stakeholders, in order to facilitate the 
co-ordination and resolution of key 
considerations associated with the 
timely implementation of the project.

All groups met throughout the 
planning and design phase, providing 
feedback on the community 
engagement program right through 
to the statutory planning process. 

The community development 
program being developed for 
Shenton Park is based on stakeholder 
and community feedback 
and research. The Community 
Reference Group will also be 
requested to provide input into the 
implementation of the community 
development program, once planning 
approvals for the project have been 
determined.

Following the success of this 
governance structure, it has been 
used as a model for other projects 
including guiding the participatory 
processes for the Bassendean 
Activity Centre.

With the Town of Bassendean and 
Swan Districts Football club, we 
are investigating 11 hectares of land 
across two investigation areas to 
be redeveloped to enhance and 
revitalise the Town Centre through a 
mix of affordable housing, diversity 
and improved community facilities.
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There were a range of engagement 
opportunities at Bassendean in 2015-
16 which resulted in a high level of 
engagement and participation from 
the community:

• 4,470 visits to the online 
engagement microsite. This 
was also supported with hard 
copies available via the Town 
of Bassendean administration 
centres.

• Three community forums, with 
attendance from 257 people to 
share project information and 
ideas.

• A Community Working Group was 
established comprising 31 self-
nominated representatives. The 

working group was tasked with 
developing the project’s vision and 
objectives and providing input 
to shape the initial draft concept 
plans through the Planning Design 
Forum process.

• The Planning Design Forum 
process involved three sessions 
which included participation from 
Stakeholder grounps and relevant  
government agencies.

• 134 people attended the 
Community Forum which 
displayed the initial draft concept 
options and gathered feedback.

For the preparation of the Murdoch 
Mixed Use Precinct Structure 
Plan, we surveyed hospital staff 

from surrounding hospitals to 
give them an opportunity to help 
influence the design of the mixed 
use site, particularly in relation to 
opportunities for retail /commercial 
spaces. Results from the 100 people 
surveyed included:

• 82 per cent of people want more 
quality cafes.

• 84 per cent are in favour of ATMs.

• 85 per cent wanted restaurants 
and wine bars.

• 86 per cent want a small 
supermarket.

• 85 per cent would love to 
sit outdoors.

We engage online as well as face-to-face
In 2015-16:

• We had 9,170 visitors to our online engagement website which was used across five projects.

• We had 708 engaged visitors – these are people who actively participated and/or contributed to a consultation 
exercise online, by providing feedback, sharing ideas, asking questions through a number of tools including surveys, 
forums and brainstorming.

• We had 3,500 informed visitors – these are people who visited our online platform and performed multiple actions to 
gather more information on a project. 

• We had 6,400 aware visitors – these are people who visited at least one page on our online platform.

• Three surveys were conducted across two projects with 758 survey respondents.

• 26 questions were posted online.



6.4	MARKET	LEADERSHIP	AND	INNOVATION

Purpose
We endeavour to demonstrate innovation in the land development industry, providing leadership in overcoming 
common challenges, introducing efficiencies and achieving development and policy goals in new ways. We focus on 
derisking and demonstrating ideas and technology that can be replicated by Government and the private sector to 
accelerate positive change within the industry.

Innovation through 
Demonstration projects 
Commitment
We seek to demonstrate innovation 
in the land development industry 
in order to provide leadership 
in overcoming development 
challenges, achieve development and 
Government policy goals in new ways 
and to introduce efficiencies and 
sustainability initiatives. Our focus 
is on the practical implementation 
of new ideas for infrastructure 
delivery, efficient resource use, 
design and built form, affordability 
and community or economic 
development.

Performance
In 2015-16 this program was 
strengthened with the establishment 
of an innovation fund. The innovation 
fund was introduced to encourage 
the generation or identification of 
new ideas, and to support their 
implementation at one of LandCorp's 
projects. The fund is specifically 
targeted at innovation in land and 
infrastructure development projects 
and is open to all staff.

An Executive Project Control 
Group has also been established to 
approve applications and business 
cases for the fund, provide advice 
to help develop ideas and oversee 
the progress of innovation projects. 
The Executive Project Control 
Group meets quarterly to consider 
new fund applications. 

Our innovation program has 
performed very well in 2015-16. The 
innovation fund process has brought 
additional structure to identifying 
and supporting innovation projects. 
A strong pipeline of innovation ideas 
are being refined and developed for 
approval and there is also a good 
pipeline of projects in various stages 
of implementation. During the year 
we achieved a number of significant 
innovation project milestones and 
some of these received wide publicity 
in the Western Australian and 
National media.

There are three key targets for 
our innovation program and our 
performance against these is 
as follows:

1. That there exists a strong 
pipeline of innovation ideas being 
developed for future delivery.

Our innovation project pipeline 
currently consists of 24 ideas that 
are in an idea development phase, a 
planning phase or a delivery phase. 
Eight projects are currently in a 
delivery phase.

2. That three innovation project ideas 
are approved to progress to a high 
level business case.

During the year three new ideas have 
been approved to proceed to the 
development of a high level business 
case. These innovation ideas are for 
projects targeting affordability, new 
built form delivery models, and water 
sensitive urban precinct design.

3. That at least three key milestones 
for the delivery of innovation 
projects are achieved each year.

Significant innovation project 
milestones achieved during the 
year include:

• Cool Earth – the two homes in this 
trial of geothermal technology 
for residential use reached 
practical completion and had 
the geothermal technology 
successfully installed in March 
2016. For more information on this 
project see page 44.

• Gen Y Demonstration Housing 
Project – construction of the 
house began in November 2015 
and is due for completion in 
November 2016.

• Alkimos Battery Trial – the 
community battery was installed 
in November 2015 and the battery 
trial was launched and began 
in April 2016.

• Micro Grid Trial – LandCorp 
partnered with the Curtin University, 
the City of Fremantle and others to 
win $900,000 in ARENA funding 
for a micro grid trial for our WGV at 
White Gum Valley project. LandCorp 
will contribute half the funding 
required for solar photovoltaics, 
battery and monitoring systems 
for the Sustainable Housing for 
Artists and Creatives (SHAC) 
apartment building.
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Case study   

Cool Earth Craigie – 
energy innovation 
Cool Earth is an Innovation through 
Demonstration initiative to measure 
the effectiveness of geoexchange 
technology against traditional 
heating and cooling in a typical 
family home in Western Australia’s 
unique environment.

Geoexchange is a form of 
geothermal energy which taps into 
the relatively stable temperature 
below ground (in this case the 
groundwater aquifer) to use as 
both a heat source in winter and 
heat sink in summer.  

Two homes have been built side by 
side, in The Vive Estate in Craigie – 
one with the geoexchange ground 
source heat pump system and one 
with standard reverse cycle air 
conditioning.  Both homes have 
identical floor plans and ducting 
layout, and both are representative 
of typical homes in the Perth 
metropolitan area. This will allow 
researchers, over a two year period, 

to measure the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the geoexchange 
technology compared to the 
conventional standard, to determine 
the payback period and the 
potential to reduce electricity peak 
load if geoexchange heating and 
cooling technology is adopted more 
broadly in the residential market.

The geoexchange technology is 
similar to normal reverse cycle air-
conditioning, except instead of air it 
uses ground water and the earth as 
the 'heat sink' (to remove the heat) 
or as the 'heat source' (to provide 
the heat). Outdoor temperatures 
fluctuate during the year, but 
temperatures below ground remain 
relatively constant year-round at 
about 20°C. During the warmer 
months, heat is removed from the 
building and transferred to the 
ground. In winter, heat is sourced 
from the ground and supplied 
to the building.

Geoexchange systems use a lot 
less electricity than standard 

air-conditioners. They transfer 
heat to and from the earth to 
provide a more affordable and 
environmentally friendly method of 
heating and cooling.

The Cool Earth homes are 
complete, with the technology 
installed, and data collection 
on temperature and energy 
consumption beginning mid-2016. 

On 9 April 2016 LandCorp held 
an Open Day at the Cool Earth 
homes to display the geoexchange 
technology and its operation. Over 
150 people attended the Open 
Day. A survey conducted on the 
day indicated that 93 per cent of 
respondents considered projects 
like Cool Earth to be essential in 
tackling environmental challenges, 
while 60 per cent said they were 
likely or very likely to adopt the 
technology in the future.

Both houses have been sold and 
monitoring of energy use will 
begin mid-2016.

MARKET LEADERSHIP AND INNOVATION

The Vive, Craigie.
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Case study   

WGV at White Gum Valley – 
sustainability and innovation 
WGV at White Gum Valley is a two 
hectare residential development 
located on the former site of the 
Kim Beazley School, 3km from 
Fremantle.

The project is a LandCorp 
Innovation through Demonstration 
project that responds to the 
challenges of climate change and 
urban development and establishes 
a new standard of sustainable urban 
regeneration for Western Australia.

As described in more detail 
elsewhere in this Report, the project 
features a number of innovation 
initiatives focused on sustainability 
including energy efficient design, 
the use of solar energy, battery 
storage and energy metering 
technology, the optimisation 
of natural water sources, water 
sensitive urban design and water 
efficiency measures.

Innovation through Demonstration 
projects aim to address industry 
or Government policy challenges, 

accelerate positive industry and 
market change and promote 
replicable innovation initiatives.

WGV aims to address the need 
for more sustainable development 
and also the Government 
policy requirement to increase 
the amount of higher density 
infill development occurring in 
metropolitan Perth. Information 
and research on all project 
initiatives is open source and 
publically available to encourage 
replication in other government 
and private developments.

Recognition, accreditation, awards, 
events and other media are all 
crucial for WGV to be replicated 
and to accelerate positive 
changes in land development 
and urban living.

WGV is Western Australia's first 
residential project to achieve 
national recognition through the 
international sustainability initiative 
One Planet Living. WGV has also 
been recognised for exemplary 
water saving initiatives, earning the

Water Corporation's Waterwise 
Development endorsement.

WGV has also received three 
prestigious Planning Institute of 
Australia awards for excellence; 
Best Planning Ideas – Small Project 
(WA), Best Planning Ideas – Small 
Project (National) and the Planning 
Minister's Award.

WGV received significant State and 
national media coverage for its 
innovative sustainability initiatives 
and recently featured in the ABC 
Catalyst program Battery Powered 
Homes on 2 February 2016.

We have also had the opportunity 
to share the WGV story with a 
wide variety of private sector 
and government stakeholders 
at a number of events, including 
when the federal Minister for the 
Environment and WA Minister 
for Energy, visited the project to 
launch the Australian Renewable 
Energy Agency funded solar and 
battery storage micro grid trial on 
13 April 2016.

MARKET LEADERSHIP AND INNOVATION

WGV at White Gum Valley
Artist impression for illustrative purposed only.
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Corporate Governance Report
Commitment
Corporate governance has been 
at the very core of the LandCorp 
Board's deliberations since the 
establishment of the organisation 
in 1992.  

The current Board of directors is 
committed to the highest standards 
of corporate governance and uses 
a range of benchmarks to guide 
its practices, including the Public 
Sector Management Act 1994 and 
the Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance as determined by the 
Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) 
(to the extent they can be applied 
to the organisation).

Corporate governance is the system 
and processes adopted to direct and 
manage business and affairs.

A comprehensive system of 
governance practices, developed 
over many years, ensures, at a 
minimum, standards set out in the 
Western Australian Land Authority 
Act 1992 and the Statutory 
Corporations (Liability of Directors) 
Act 1996 are achieved.

The Board of directors and staff are 
focused on, and committed to, good 
corporate governance.

The Minister for Lands has portfolio 
responsibility for LandCorp. 

The legislation sets the foundation for 
the corporate governance framework 
and structure to be given effect by 
the Board of directors, and defines 
reporting requirements.

The Western Australian Auditor 
General conducts annual audits 
of LandCorp.

6.5 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our purpose

We support good corporate governance and ethical conduct and decision making. This is important because we are 
here to serve the needs of the community and a strong corporate governance and integrity framework is critical to 
maintaining the confidence of both our shareholder and the broader community.
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Performance

Board of directors

Board role and responsibilities 
The Board of directors recognises 
accountability to the Government 
and Minister for Lands.  

This requires the Board to deliver 
the objectives and functions set 
out in the Western Australian Land 
Authority Act 1992.

The Board is accountable to 
the Government for LandCorp’s 
performance and the Board’s 
responsibilities cover:

• Setting out corporate directions 
and annually submitting the annual 
Statement of Corporate Intent and 
five year Strategic Development 
Plan, including financial targets, 
to the Minister;

• Providing strategic direction and 
approving significant strategic 
corporate objectives;

• Maintaining communication with 
the Minister and Government; 

• Maintaining working relationships 
with management;

• Evaluating Board performance;

• Evaluating performance of the 
chief executive;

• Planning for Board and 
management succession; 

• Recommending director 
remuneration to the Minister;

• Monitoring financial and 
corporate performance;

• Considering and approving half-
yearly and annual reports;

• Assessing social, economic and 
environmental performance;

• Reviewing, ratifying and 
monitoring appropriate systems 
of risk management and 
legal compliance; 

• Satisfying itself that appropriate 
internal control mechanisms are in 
place and are being implemented;

• Determining the scope of authority 
(and any limits on authority) which 
is delegated to the chief executive 
or any other officer;

• Monitoring appropriate 
resources are available to senior 
management; and

• Maintaining an emphasis on audit 
activities.

The Board has worked throughout 
the year to ensure the organisation’s 
vision, future directions and strategies 
are well understood and achieved.

Australian Marine Complex
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Board composition
The Board comprises independent 
directors appointed by the Minister 
for Lands in accordance with relevant 
provisions of the Western Australian 
Land Authority Act 1992. 

At least four of the directors need to 
have relevant experience in housing, 
industry, commerce, finance, land 
development, town planning or 
engineering, which provide a set of 
relevant experiences and knowledge.  
The skills and experiences of 
directors who were on the Board 
during the reporting period are set 
out in the Directors’ Report.  

The chairperson and deputy 
chairperson are appointed by the 
Minister for Lands.

In accordance with Schedule 1A, 
Clause 1 of the Western Australian 
Land Authority Act 1992, directors 
may be appointed for a term of up to 
three years.  There are also provisions 
in the Act which enable the Minister 
to reappoint directors for a further 
term on the Board. The Chief 
Executive is not permitted to be 
appointed as a director.  

The Board does not believe 
any director has served on the 
Board for a period which could 
materially interfere, or reasonably 
be perceived to interfere, with the 
director’s ability to act in the best 
interests of LandCorp.

In addition, it is considered 
each director is independent of 
management and any business 
or other relationship that could 
materially interfere with the 
exercise of objective, unfettered 
or independent judgement by the 
director or the director’s ability to act 
in the best interests of LandCorp.

The induction process includes 
briefings with the Chief Executive 
and senior management, provision 
of information on key corporate and 
Board policies and strategic plans 
and relevant project site visits.

All directors are expected to 
undertake professional development 
to maintain skills required to 
discharge their duties. This may 
include industry seminars and 
approved education courses.

The Board and the Chief Executive
The Board is responsible for the 
appointment and employment 
contract of the Chief Executive 
subject to obtaining the 
Minister’s approval.

Day to day oversight and 
management of operations are the 
responsibility of the Chief Executive 
who reports to the Board on 
issues including:

• Corporate strategies;

• Human resources;

• Annual budgeting;

• Managing day to day operations;

• Risk management;

• Operations and major project 
challenges and milestones; and

• Strategic marketing 
and communications.
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Board committees
The Board has three committees to 
focus on specific areas:

• Audit and Risk Management 
Committee;

• Governance and Remuneration 
Committee; and

• Planning, Development and 
Communications Committee.

Each committee reviews its terms 
of reference and membership 
annually, with any proposed changes 
submitted to the Board for approval. 
Minutes of all committee meetings 
are provided to the next Board 
meeting. A director may attend 
committee meetings even if he or she 
is not a member of the committee.

Audit and Risk 
Management Committee
This Committee provides advice 
to the Board, which assists the 
Board to fulfil its responsibilities 
relating to risk management and 
compliance with internal systems and 
control mechanisms.  

The Committee has direct access 
to external auditors, internal 
auditors and senior management. 
The Committee meets regularly, 
meeting external auditors at least 
twice a year and internal auditors 
more frequently. External auditors 
are appointed in accordance with 
Schedule 3A Clause 14 of the Act.

The Committee comprises a 
minimum of two and a maximum of 
three Board directors (not including 
the Board Chairperson) appointed 
by the Board. The Committee has a 
charter setting out its responsibilities 
and key activities covering:

Financial Reporting
• Oversee financial reporting 

process on behalf of the Board 
and report the results of its 
activities to the Board.

• Assist the Board in ensuring 
that the accounting policies and 
principles used are appropriate 
and that the financial reports are 
properly prepared.

• Review significant accounting, 
taxation and reporting issues, 
including recent professional and 
regulatory pronouncements, and 
understand their impact on the 
financial statements.

Internal Audit
• Make recommendations to the 

Board regarding the appointment 
of internal auditors.

• Approve the charter for the 
internal audit function.

• Approve both short term and 
long-term internal audit plans.

• Review the activities of the 
internal audit function and ensure 
no unjustified restrictions or 
limitations are made.

• Review the effectiveness of the 
internal audit function.

• Review the performance of the 
internal auditors.

• Ensure that significant findings 
and recommendations made 
by the internal auditors are 
received by the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee and 
discussed on a timely basis.

• Ensure that management 
responds to recommendations 
made by the internal auditors 
and agreed action items are 
addressed promptly.

External Audit
• Consider the external auditors’ 

proposed audit scope and 
approach and ensure no 
unjustified restrictions or 
limitations have been placed 
on the scope.

• Ensure that significant findings 
and recommendations made by 
the external auditors are received 
and discussed on a timely basis.

• Ensure that management 
responds to recommendations 
by the external auditors 
and agreed action items are 
addressed promptly.
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Risk management 
(including internal controls)
• Discuss with management, the 

internal auditor and the external 
auditor, the adequacy and 
effectiveness of:

 –   internal control systems;

 –   policies and procedures to 
assess, monitor, and manage 
business risk; and

 –   legal and ethical 
compliance programs.

• Assess the internal processes for 
determining and managing key 
risk areas, particularly: 

 –   compliance with laws, 
regulations, standards and best 
practice guidelines; 

 –   important judgements and 
accounting estimates; 

 –   fraud and theft; and

 –   relevant business risks other 
than those dealt with by other 
specific Board committees.

• Make recommendations to 
the Board for improvements 
(if any) in relation to the internal 
financial management and the 
financial controls.

• Review management policies 
and reports for the oversight 
and management of material 
business risks.

• Address the effectiveness of the 
internal controls, risk management 
and performance management 
systems with management and 
the external audit providers.

• Evaluate the process for assessing 
and continuously improving 
internal controls, particularly those 
related to areas of significant risk.

• Members of the Committee 
generally do not represent 
themselves as experts in the 
fields of accounting, auditing or 
financial risk management. As 
such, it is not the responsibility of 
the Committee directly to conduct 
accounting, auditing or financial 
risk management reviews.

• Management is responsible for:

 –   the preparation, presentation 
and integrity of LandCorp’s 
financial information and 
other information provided to 
the Committee;

 –   implementing, managing 
and maintaining appropriate 
enterprise-wide accounting, 
financial reporting and financial 
risk management systems 
and internal controls that are 
designed to ensure compliance 
with applicable standards, laws 
and regulations; and

 –   maintaining sufficient 
knowledge, skills and 
expertise within LandCorp’s 
finance function.

• The external auditor is 
responsible for:

 –   Planning and carrying out 
each audit and review in 
accordance with applicable 
auditing standards.

Governance and 
Remuneration Committee
The Board has established this 
Committee to assist the Board 
in ensuring that appropriate and 
effective policies, plans and practices 
are in place in relation to:

• corporate governance; 

• Board, Committee and Chief 
Executive performance 
management; 

• Board and Executive succession 
and remuneration; and 

• human resources standards 
oversight.

The Committee comprises a 
minimum of two and a maximum 
of three Board directors appointed 
by the Board. The Committee has a 
charter setting out its responsibilities 
and key activities covering:

• develop and review corporate 
governance principles 
and framework;

• develop and review policy relating 
to remuneration of the Board, 
Chief Executive, management and 
other staff;

• provide quality assurance on 
the integrity and probity of 
remuneration policies and 
practices, with Executive 
remuneration;

• provide quality assurance on 
Executive remuneration, through 
annual reviews of the Chief 
Executive's recommendations;

• ensure appropriate succession 
planning is undertaken for the 
Board and Executive;

• assist with the nomination of 
directors and with induction 
programs for new directors;
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• assist with the review of the 
performance of the Board, 
the committees and the chief 
executive; 

• review LandCorp’s Code of 
Conduct and associated policies; 
and

• ensure policies are developed to 
assist with achieving business 
direction outcomes.

In accordance with the Western 
Australian Land Authority Act 1992, 
disclosures relating to Director, Chief 
Executive Officer and Executive 
remuneration are included in the 
Directors’ Report.

Planning,	Development	and	
Communications Committee
The Board has established this 
Committee to be the decision making 
body for the Western Australian 
Land Authority’s statutory planning 
responsibilities, provide advice 
on strategic planning, investment 
and development which meets 
the State’s needs, and review and 
update  communication policies to 
ensure effective communication 
with stakeholders.

The Committee comprises a 
minimum of two and maximum of 
three Board directors appointed by 
the Board. The Committee has a 
charter setting out its responsibilities 
and key activities covering:

Redevelopment acts
• Make decisions in accordance with, 

and provide advice to the Board 
with regard to, the Authority’s 
statutory planning responsibilities 
as defined in the:

 –   Hope Valley-Wattleup 
Redevelopment Act 2000; and

 –   Perry Lakes Redevelopment 
Act 2005;

• perform duties and execute 
powers delegated to the 
Committee and staff by the 
Instrument of Delegation for 
the Planning, Development and 
Communications Committee 
which was adopted by the Board 
on 19 December 2006;

• administer the Authority’s 
redevelopment act roles and 
responsibilities, including:

 –   preparation of project concept 
plans, Master plans and structure 
plans and variations;

 –   redevelopment plan 
development, reviews and 
amendments; 

 –   providing statutory advice 
on planning, development 
applications, subdivision 
applications and master 
plan standards to other 
approval bodies, including 
matters referred to the State 
Administrative Tribunal; 

 –   preparation of planning and 
development policies; 

 –   administration of Officer 
delegations;

 –   preparation and administration 
of development contribution 
plans;

 –   consideration of landowner 
agreements; and

 –   review of development 
guidelines.

Improvement plan and schemes
• provide strategic advice to the 

Board on the use of improvement 
plans and improvement schemes 
as an appropriate statutory 
planning delivery mechanism for 
redevelopment areas;

• receive quarterly reporting on any 
active Improvement Scheme or 
Improvement Plan; and

• administer duties and execute 
powers as delegated.

Leadership and innovation
• monitor and advise on the 

Authority’s corporate direction in 
achieving market leadership and 
innovation in land development in 
line with Government and Board 
expectations and the social and 
economic needs of the State; and

• monitor and advise on innovation 
pipeline on an annual basis.

Strategic stakeholder engagement 
and communications
• Support the Board’s involvement 

in the development and ongoing 
management of key stakeholder 
relationships in order to:

 –   promote an awareness and 
understanding about LandCorp.

 –   manage shareholder and 
stakeholder issues and 
opportunities;

• oversee alignment of 
communication policies and 
processes against Government 
and Board expectations

• monitor the performance of key 
stakeholder engagement and 
communication initiatives;

• review key research activity with 
key findings/results to be referred 
to the Board; and

• monitor and advise on the 
strategic direction of the  
sponsorship program on an annual 
basis.

SECTION 06  |  OUR PERFORMANCE  |  51

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE



Board meetings
Board meetings are held at 
such times and places as the 
Board determines.

The Chairperson sets the agenda for 
each meeting in consultation with the 
Chief Executive.  Any director may 
request to have a matter added to 
the agenda.  

Directors are provided 
comprehensive papers on matters to 
be considered by the Board.

Members of the Office of the Chief 
Executive and other members of the 
senior management group attend 
parts of the Board meetings by 
invitation.

Board access to 
information and 
professional advice
Directors have access to information 
via Executive.

The directors, Board and the 
committees may, in carrying out 
their duties, seek external legal and 
expert advice at LandCorp’s expense.  
This advice may be sought after 
consultation with the Chairperson.  

Performance evaluation
The Board Chairperson is responsible 
for reviewing Board performance, 
monitoring the contribution of 
individual directors and counselling 
them on any areas which may result 
in improved Board performance. An 
external review of Board performance 
was undertaken in 2016.

Each committee reviews its 
performance annually against 
its chartered roles which is then 
reported to the Governance and 
Remuneration committee.

The performance evaluation of the 
chief executive is undertaken by 
the Board though the chairperson. 
A performance agreement and 
targets are set and reviews are 
undertaken a minimum of twice 
annually.

The performance evaluation of 
executive is undertaken by the 
chief executive. A performance 
agreement and targets are set and 
reviews are undertaken a minimum 
of twice annually.

LandCorp has a strong culture 
of achievement via performance 
agreements for all staff which clarify 
roles and responsibilities, goals 
and targets (aligned to the annual 
business plan) as well as specific 
development plans.

Conflicts	of	interest
A Conflict of Interest policy is in place 
detailing how such matters are to 
be managed. This policy accords 
with standards set by the Western 
Australian Public Sector Commissioner.

New directors appointed to the 
Board are required to declare 
financial and pecuniary interests 
at their first meeting.  A standing 
protocol dictates where a director 
would disclose an interest in any 
item on the Board meeting agenda.  
Disclosures are recorded in the 
meeting minutes, with a copy placed 
into a Conflicts of Interest Register.

Any director who considers he or she 
has a conflict of interest is required 
to give other directors immediate 
notice. These interests are recorded 
in the Conflict of Interest Register.

Where a director makes a declaration 
of a conflict, the Board may either 
allow the director to partially 
participate in discussion of the 
agenda item; make a statement 

to the Board, prior to leaving the 
meeting room; or the Board may 
request the director leave the 
meeting immediately.

The Conflict of Interest Policy also 
applies to staff and contractors 
who, when conflicted, are required 
to make a formal disclosure to the 
Chief Executive who determines 
the management action required. 
These interests are also recorded in 
the Conflict of Interest Register.

As part of a regular review process, 
the Governance and Remuneration 
Committee reviewed the Conflicts of 
Interest Policy in November 2015.

LandCorp is subject to the powers 
of the Corruption and Crime 
Commission (CCC) which seeks to 
minimise misconduct and improve 
the integrity of the public sector. In 
June 2016 an 18 month investigation 
by the CCC regarding the sale of 
land at Australian Marine Complex, 
Henderson by a Senior Officer 
of LandCorp was completed. 
LandCorp takes a zero tolerance 
approach to non-compliance 
with its Code of Conduct and the 
two staff members involved are 
no longer with LandCorp. The 
Commission recommended that 
LandCorp reinforce the need 
for compliance with its Code of 
Conduct and the Conflict of Interest 
Policy. Accountable and Ethical 
Decision Making re-fresher training 
during 2015-16 was completed by 
98.5 per cent of staff.
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Ethical standards
The Board is required to establish 
minimum standards to apply to 
employees, management and the 
Board of directors with regard to 
merit, equity and probity, which 
is reflected in a Code of Conduct 
developed in consultation with the 
Commissioner of Public Sector 
Standards.

The Code of Conduct provides 
guidance on a set of principles that 
reflects its approach to business and 
applies to anyone working for, or on 
behalf of, LandCorp including Board, 
Executive, staff and contractors.  
The Code of Conduct is part of the 
orientation process, available to 
staff at all times via the intranet and 
document management systems 
and supported by training and 
awareness-raising sessions. 

LandCorp adopts a risk-based, 
precautionary and proactive 
approach to our operations, with zero 
tolerance to fraud and corruption. 
LandCorp manages risk related to 
corruption across all operations at 
a corporate level. This involves a 
system of procedures that include: 
Code of Ethics and Code of 

Conduct; fraud audits and training 
(including accountable and ethical 
decision making training); directors 
and officers liability insurance risk 
assessments; corporate risk register, 
and a series of policies.

A series of policies and protocols 
are maintained to strengthen and 
affirm the approach to corporate 
governance. These address the 
key areas of:

• values and ethics;

• trade practices;

• procurement and tendering;

• gifts;

• occupational health and safety;

• equal employment opportunity;

• continuous disclosure of conflicts 
of interest; and

• personal duties and 
responsibilities.

As part of a regular review process, 
the Governance and Remuneration 
Committee reviewed the Code of 
Conduct in November 2015.

Shareholder
The Minister for Lands has portfolio 
responsibility for LandCorp. 

Ministerial reporting
LandCorp’s governing legislation sets 
out reports which are to be provided 
to the Minister.

The governing legislation and 
regulations prescribes the matters 
to be addressed in the Strategic 
Development Plan and Statement of 
Corporate Intent.  These documents 
provide the Minister with details on 
activities, key objectives, strategies 
and operational targets. Both 
documents are submitted annually 
for approval by the Minister, with 
the consent of the Treasurer. 
The Statement of Corporate Intent 
is tabled in the Parliament annually 
by the Minister. All documents were 
submitted to the Minister within the 
timeframes prescribed in the Western 
Australian Land Authority Act 1992.

Beyond the legislative requirements 
there is a commitment to ensuring 
the Government is fully informed 
on significant activities and 
developments. This commitment is 
achieved by provision of information 
and advice to the Minister for Lands, 
as well as agencies such as the 
Department of Treasury and the 
Department of Finance.

Information provided includes, but 
is not limited to, annual reports, 
half year reports, and budget 
submissions as well as responses to 
specific requests from Parliament, 
Members of Parliament, agencies 
and the public.
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Ministerial direction
The Minister may give directions in 
writing to the Board of directors 
with respect to the performance 
of the functions prescribed under 
the legislation. Any such directions 
must be laid before both Houses of 
Parliament within 14 days.

The Board has maintained a policy 
with respect to responding to 
Ministerial direction. This policy 
enables the Board to comply with the 
Western Australian Land Authority 
Act 1992 and Statutory Corporations 
(Liability of Directors) Act 1996. 

No Ministerial directions were 
received from the Minister during 
the reporting period.

Ministerial approvals
The Western Australian Land 
Authority Act 1992 requires we 
obtain the Minister’s approval 
for transactions in which the 
consideration is equal to or exceeds 
five percent of the value of total 
reported assets as set out in the most 
recent annual report. There have 
been two transactions approved by 
the Minister in 2015-16.

Ministerial Review
Section 48 of the Act requires the 
Minister to carry out a review of the 
operation and effectiveness of the 
Act within six months after every fifth 
anniversary of the commencement 
of the Western Australian Land 
Authority Act Amendment 2004.

In the course of this review the 
Minister must have regard to: 

• the effectiveness of the operations 
of the Authority;

• the need for the continuation of 
the functions of the WALA; and

• such other matters as appear 
to the Minister to be relevant to 
the operation and effectiveness 
of this Act.

The Minister commenced the review 
process in May 2015. The final report 
on the review was prepared in 
November 2015 and presented to 
Government in April 2016. It was laid 
before each House of Parliament 
on 10 May 2016 and is available 
on the Parliamentary Website 
(under Tabled Papers).  

The review concluded that the 
Authority is an effective and 
important vehicle for Government 
in providing land for the social and 
economic needs of the State and, 
accordingly, recommended the Act 
should continue. The Review also 
found the Authority should:

• build on effective delivery of 
achievements in the regions of 
Western Australia to consolidate 
social and economic growth 
of the state;

• redouble facilitation of residential 
density infill opportunities in 
the Perth and Peel regions to 
assist in achievement of planning 
policy targets;

• encourage Government’s use 
of  resources and expertise to 
acquire, deconstrain or divest 
surplus government assets with 
the objective of maximising 
social and economic returns to 
the community and managing 
development risk;

• hasten development of 
the significant integrated 
industrial zone known as the 
Western Trade Coast in the 
role of implementation agency 
accountable to Department 
of State Development as Lead 
Agency; and

• expedite delivery of industrial 
land supply identified in the 
Economic and Employment of 
Lands Strategy within three to 
five years to meet the demands 
and requirements of Perth 
metropolitan and Peel regions.

The statutory review of the Act made 
several recommendations intended 
to enhance the efficiency of the 
Authority's activities and strengthen 
working relationships which are now 
being implemented.
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Corporate	compliance disclosures
Freedom of Information
The provisions of the Freedom of 
Information (FOI) Act 1992 apply 
to LandCorp and statistics relating 
to applications received for this 
reporting period are shown below. 
We work with applicants to facilitate 
full disclosure of documents 
where appropriate.  

An Information Statement in 
accordance with the FOI Act, 
providing information about 
LandCorp and how to make an 
FOI request is available at  
http://www.landcorp.com.au. 

FOI Statistics 2015-16

Access applications received 7

Applications transferred 
to another agency

0

Applications processed  7

Access in full 5

Edited access 2

Documents not found/do 
not exist 

0

Access refused 0

Access deferred 0

Access given (s.28) 0

Applications carried over* 0

External reviews received 1

* As at 30 June 2016 one application is in internal 
review and one in external review

Record keeping compliance
In accordance with Section 61 of the 
State Records Act 2000 and the 
State Records Commission Standards  
(Standard 2 - Principle 6),  we have 
an approved Recordkeeping Plan. 
In accordance with s.28 (5) of the 
Act, this Plan is currently under 
review and will be submitted to 
the State Records Commission for 
approval in August 2016. The Plan 
describes how records are created, 
maintained, managed and disposed 

of in accordance with our standards 
and principles. Regular reviews of 
recordkeeping practices and systems 
are conducted, with the electronic 
document and records management 
System recently upgraded to ensure 
optimal compliance and functionality. 

The LandCorp induction process for 
all staff and contractors includes an 
on-line recordkeeping module. This 
includes information on employees' 
roles and responsibilities and how 
they comply with the approved 
Recordkeeping Plan. Completion 
of the course is recorded in the  
HR system and staff have the 
opportunity to provide feedback 
on the course content. The training 
package was recently reviewed and 
is being updated. 

Public interest disclosure 
The Public Interest Disclosures 
Act 2003 facilitates the disclosure 
of public interest information and 
provides protection for those who 
make disclosures and those who are 
the subject of disclosures.

An additional public interest 
disclosure officer was trained this 
year. We now have two officers 
who can assist with enquiries and 
implement internal procedures 
developed to ensure compliance with 
obligations under the Act.

No disclosures were received 
this year.

Environmental regulation 
and management	
Day-to-day operations are subject to 
regulation under both Commonwealth 
and State environmental legislation 
applicable to any Australian 
commercial entity. These include:

• Wildlife Conservation Act 
(WA) 1950

• Waterways Conservation Act 
(WA) 1976 

• Environmental Protection Act 
(WA) 1986; 

• Environment Protection and 
Biodiversity Conservation Act 
(Commonwealth) 1999; and

• Contaminated Sites Act (WA) 2003.

Reportable expenditure
The Electoral Act 1907 (Section 
175 ZE) requires the disclosure of 
certain categories of expenditure. 
Details of the organisation's 
contracted and the amounts paid for 
the financial year are as follows:

Advertising $1,947,410

The Brand Agency

Media Advertising $844,581

Adcorp Australia 
Limited/Carat 
Australia Media 
Services Pty Ltd

Market Research $252,555

Faster Horses

Ipsos Australia

Painted Dog Research

Research 4

Taktiscs-4

Urbis

MacroPlan Dimasi

Y Research

RPS Australia East 
Pty Ltd

Colliers International

Direct mail $0

Polling $0

Total Expenditure $3,044,546

Table 5 FOI statistics

Table 6 Reportable expenditure
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Risk management
A Risk Management Framework 
has been developed which outlines 
the methodology, approach and 
responsibility for the effective 
management and oversight of risk 
within our business. The Framework 
is aligned to ISO 31000:2009 
Risk Management Principles 
and Guidelines, the international 
standard for risk management and 
provides a consistent approach 
to the recognition, measurement 
and evaluation of risks across 
our business. It also supports 
Executive Management and the 
Board in meeting their corporate 
governance responsibilities.

The primary focus of the risk 
management governance structure 
and internal control systems is to 
identify, assess and mitigate material 
business risks with the aim of 
enhancing value to our shareholder 
and protecting assets. 

Risk management assessments at 
LandCorp are carried out at three 
levels: strategic, operational and 
project. Our risk assessment system 
cascades from the strategic plan 
through to operational and project 
plans and is integrated into key 
performance indicators and individual 
performance plans. 

Political, economic, stakeholder and 
regulatory legislative factors are 
considered when assessing strategic 
risks, while corporate objectives 
and organisational structures are 
considered for operational and 
corporate risk analysis. Strategic risks 
are considered ‘high level’ and are 
associated with achieving corporate 
objectives and threats to the long 
term sustainability of the business. 
Operational risks impact LandCorp 
as a whole and are associated with 
threats to our overall business plan 
and business functions. 

All projects have a lifecycle from 
initiation through to planning, 
contracting, design, construction and 
sales and require risk identification 
and management to ensure 
successful completion. Our Corporate 
Risk Register contains all strategic 
and operational risks, while project 
risks are contained within Clarity our 
project management system. Project 
risks are reviewed and if common 
themes arise, these are escalated to 
the Operational Risk Register.

Another key ingredient in having a 
positive and proactive risk culture is 
having a well-defined organisational 
risk appetite which in turn drives 
behaviours and outcomes. As a 
general rule, LandCorp has a ‘low’ risk 
appetite, with exception in areas of 
safety and health, fraud, corruption, 
misconduct and willful breaches of 
confidentiality, where risk appetite 
is ‘zero’. Only in specific areas is 
‘moderate’ risk tolerated, and this 
is subject to a full understanding of 
the potential benefits and risks, the 
required authorisation being obtained 
and effective controls being fully in 
place. There is no appetite for ‘high’ 
risks anywhere within LandCorp. 
This approach was reviewed and 
agreed in 2016.

The LandCorp Board has delegated 
the responsibility for oversight of 
risk management to the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee. The 
role of the Committee is to assist the 
Board in its oversight responsibilities 
related to financial management and 
reporting, external audit, internal 
audit and risk management of 
LandCorp. The Committee monitors 
enterprise risk management activity 
incorporating its impact on mitigating 
material risks to the business through 
oversight of the Corporate Risk 
Register (tabled four times a year to 
the Committee and bi-annually to the 
Board) and the Risk Management 
Framework (tabled as required 
to the Committee), Quarterly risk 
dashboards are also provided to 
the Committee and Board to advise 
of any changes.
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Occupational safety  
and health
Over the last four years, a vastly 
improved safety culture has been 
created at LandCorp through greater 
consultation and communication 
on Occupational, Safety and 
Health (OSH) matters, as well as 
substantially improved systems 
and processes. The introduction 
of compulsory online inductions 
for all staff and compulsory OSH 
workshops for new employees, along 
with our online safety compliance 
software MYOSH, culminated with 
LandCorp being awarded a Silver 
Worksafe accreditation in late 2014 
and Gold Worksafe accreditation in 
mid-2015. LandCorp will be applying 
for Platinum Worksafe accreditation 
in 2016, which is the highest level an 
organisation can achieve.

We have always insisted on strong 
safety systems and compliance from 
our contractors. In 2016, LandCorp 
confidently engaged with contractors 
knowing that it upheld the same 
commitment to safety and health 
that is expected of contractors.

Occupational safety and 
health orientation
An orientation process which 
encompasses OSH matters is in 
place. Employees must all undertake 
compulsory OSH training and 
pass an assessment at completion. 
Contractors are provided with an 
overview of policy and procedures, 
which outline our commitment to 
the safety, health and wellbeing of all 
personnel. In 2015-16, 100 per cent 
of staff had completed the online 
occupational safety and health online 
induction with assessment.

Occupational Safety and 
Health Committee 
We encourage employees to discuss 
OSH issues with the OSH Manager 
for consideration and remediation if 
required. The Occupational Safety 
and Health Committee meets 
quarterly to discuss health and safety 
issues. It consists of representatives 
from all divisions as well as managers 
and a general manager.

Ten per cent of our total workforce 
is represented on the formal joint 
management-worker Health and 
Safety Committee. The Committee 
meet quarterly and is made up of 
staff from all divisions and levels. 
Committee members commit to a 
12-month minimum tenure before 
nominating a new member. The 
Committee meetings provide 
a planned forum for proactive 
discussion on health and safety 
matters across the organisation 
providing a systematic way for 
dealing with any issues. 

Statement of compliance to 
injury management
A commitment is in place to provide 
injury management support to all 
workers who sustain a work related 
injury or illness with a focus on 
safe and early return to meaningful 
work and in accordance with the 
Worker’s Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Occupational Safety and Health 
Management Systems
An occupational safety and health 
management system is monitored 
and audited on a cyclical basis. 
Internal audits reviewed the system 
process in December 2012 and again 
in May 2014. Practices and systems 
were reviewed in July 2014 and June 
2015 by WorkSafe auditors.

A procedures manual contains 
comprehensive occupational safety 
and health processes for use by all 
operational staff who must comply 
with company policy and ensure 
our staff and contractors implement 
health and safety management 
practices for all site-based and 
external projects.

Incidents are reported to 
management within 24 hours and 
escalated in accordance with risk 
categories. Safety reports are 
reviewed by Executive monthly and 
the operational division managers 
group weekly. The Board receives 
regular updates and immediate 
notification of all category five 
(major and catastophic) incidents.

We operate within the guidance of 
AS/NZS 4801:2001 Occupational 
Health and Safety Management 
Systems and hold a Gold Worksafe 
accreditation. The WorkSafe 
accreditation is administered by the 
Department of Commerce, WorkSafe 
Division, and is specifically for 
organisations under the jurisdiction 
of Western Australian safety and 
health legislation. Gold certificates 
are only awarded to organisations 
demonstrating excellent progress 
towards a best practice approach to 
safety and health management.
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OSH Performance 
The following table outlines our performance against key OSH measures. 

Key	measures 2015-16 
Target

2015-16 
Actual

2014-15 2013-14 2012-13

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 0 0

Lost time injury and/or disease incidence rate 0 0 0 0 0

Lost time injury and/or disease severity rate 0 0 0 0 0

Percentage of injured workers returned to work:

(i) within 13 weeks 0 0 0 0 0

(ii) within 26 weeks 0 0 0 0 0

Percentage of project-related personnel that hold a Construction 
Induction Card (White Card)

100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Percentage of  total workforce represented on the formal joint 
management-worker health and safety committee

9% 9.75% 9% 8.5% 7.5%

Note: Minor first-aid injuries have not been included.

Table 7 Performance against key OSH measures

Occupational Safety and Health training 
The following table outlines our performance against key OSH training measures. 

Key	measures 2015-16 
Target

2015-16 
Actual

2014-15 2013-14 2012-13

Percentage of staff who have completed 
online occupational safety and health 
online induction with assessment

100% 100% 100% 100% N/A

Percentage of managers trained in 
occupational safety, health and injury 
management responsibilities

100% 100% 100% 100% 50%

Development managers were also provided with more in-depth training to enable them to fulfil their roles. In 2016, 
development managers all attended compulsory internal OSH training workshops. These workshops were designed to 
fulfil a commitment to continuously improve OSH performance.

Diversity and Equity

Diversity and equal employment opportunity (EEO) are promoted in the workplace. To achieve this, policies are in place 
to create awareness and eliminate discrimination and harassment, particularly on grounds covered by EEO legislation.

An EEO management plan includes strategies to promote equality of opportunity for all employees and prospective 
employees.  This includes targets for various diversity groups, including Aboriginal Australians, people with disabilities 
and women in management.  These targets are monitored and reported to the Board.

The following table summarises targets and respective outcomes as at 30 June 2016.

Table 8 Performance against OSH training measures

Diversity categories Target Actual at 
June 2016 

Woman in management* 32.5% 32.5%

Aboriginal Australians 3.0% 1.6%

People with disabilities 3.0% 2.1%

*Woman in management is the percentage of females in the senior leadership group

Table 9 Diversity targets and performance
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6.6 Directors' report

The LandCorp Board of Directors presents its report for the financial year ended 30 June 2016.

Directors
The Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992 (the Act) prescribes that the Board is to comprise between five and 
seven Directors at any one time, with the Minister for Lands being responsible for Board appointments.

Persons who held the office of Director during the course of the year were as follows:

Director Date First Appointed Term Expiry Date

Monty House (Chairperson) 6 April 2009 30 June 2017

George McCullagh  
(Deputy Chairperson)

28 September 2010 
(22 June 2015)

30 June 2018

Simon Read 27 April 2010 30 June 2018

Peter Cooke 8 April 2009* 30 June 2016

Peter Gibbons 1 January 2013 30 June 2017

Sue Middleton 1 July 2015 30 June 2017

Donna Shepherd 1 August 2015 4 January 2016 (resigned)

* First appointed 8 April 2009 to 9 June 2010. Reappointed 14 February 2011 and 30 June 2014.

Table 10 Directors who held office during 2015-16

The qualifications, experience and particular responsibilities of each Director are set out on the following page.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Current Directors

Monty House was initially appointed 
Chairperson on 6 April 2009 and 
reappointed during the period for 
a further two-year term expiring 
30 June 2017.  Monty has enjoyed 
a distinguished 40 year career of 
public service, commencing as a 
Shire Councillor and Shire President 
at Gnowangerup. As a former 
Member of Parliament representing 
the Stirling electorate, Monty also 
served as Minister for Primary 
Industry and Fisheries as well as 
Deputy Leader of the National Party. 
Monty is the owner/manager of an 
extensive grain and sheep farming 
business in WA. Monty has been 
Chairman, and a Board member, of a 
number of private and publicly listed 
companies both in Australia and 
overseas. He is currently External 
Affairs Director of Latent Petroleum, 
a Member of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors and a serving 
Justice of the Peace.

George McCullagh was initially 
appointed on 28 September 
2010 and re-appointed during 
the period for a further three-
year term expiring 30 June 
2018. He was appointed Deputy 
Chairperson on 22 June 2015. 
George is Chairperson of the 
Governance and Remuneration 
Committee and a member of 
the Planning, Development and 
Communications Committee. He 
was previously a Partner with 
an international consulting firm. 
Across the past decade, George 
has worked as a consultant in 
independent practice, providing 
commercial and advisory services 
to a range of planning, resources, 
infrastructure and redevelopment 
organisations in Western Australia. 
He currently serves as an 
independent member of the Audit 
Committee for the Department of 
Mines and Petroleum. George is a 
Member of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors.

Peter Cooke was initially appointed 
8 April 2009 to 9 June 2010, and 
reappointed 14 February 2011 and 
then 30 June 2014 for another 
two year term expiring 30 June 
2016. Peter is Chairperson of 
the Planning, Development and 
Communications Committee and 
a member of the Governance and 
Remuneration Committee.  He has 
a varied and extensive background 
in agriculture, agribusiness, 
marketing, strategic planning and 
communications.  For the past 18 
years he has been the principal of 
Agknowledge, a small agribusiness 
firm specialising in providing 
strategic business development to 
a range of companies, government 
departments and enterprises across 
Australia. Peter was a Director 
of Landgate (2007-12), a Board 
member of the Rural Adjustment 
and Finance Corporation of WA 
(1996-2000), and Chief Executive 
Officer of the Kondinin Group 
(1988-1997). Peter is a Fellow 
of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors, and currently 
an Independent Chair for four 
Family Businesses. Until the London 
Olympics Peter chaired the National 
Selection Panel for Australia’s 
Equestrian Olympic team.
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Peter Gibbons was initially 
appointed on 1 January 2013 and 
reappointed during the period for 
another three years expiring 30 
June 2017. Peter is a member of 
the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee and Governance 
and Remuneration Committee. 
Peter has extensive experience 
in property investment banking, 
property development and property 
financing and funds management 
Peter has strong knowledge and 
understanding of the issues and 
challenges of regional development 
in Western Australia. He has 
previously held a number of senior 
Board positions including the 
Board of the Silver Chain Group 
and Commissioner of the West 
Australian Football Commission. 
Peter is also a non-executive 
director of not-for-profit aged 
care and retirement group 
Bethanie, and chairs their 
Property Development Committee.

Sue Middleton was initially 
appointed on 1 July 2015 for a two 
year term expiring 30 June 2017. 
Sue is a member of the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee. Sue 
and her husband’s family manage a 
diverse range of farming operations 
including a citrus orchard, grain 
and pork enterprise. Sue was 
formerly the Chairperson for 
the Western Australian Regional 
Development Trust. Sue was the 
Rural Industries Research and 
Development Corporation’s Rural 
Woman of the Year 2010. She 
also contributes enormously to 
community projects and has been 
involved in key leadership groups 
including the Regional Women’s 
Advisory Council, the National 
Rural Advisory Council and a 
commissioner on the Agricultural 
Produce Commission. Sue also has 
experience in strategic planning and 
as a professional facilitator.

Simon Read was initially appointed 
on 27 April 2010 and reappointed 
during the period for a further 
three-year term expiring 30 June 
2018. Simon is Chairperson of 
the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee and has honed a 
hands-on skill set over 25 years of 
working with Australia’s leading 
corporate recovery specialists. 
He has specialised in corporate 
reconstruction, turnaround 
and business improvement. 
Simon also currently consults 
to business owners, boards and 
financiers. Simon has worked 
across many industries with 
significant experience in forestry, 
mining, engineering, finance and 
property. Simon is a Graduate 
of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and a 
Chartered Accountant. 
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Directors who resigned or term expired during the period
Donna Shepherd was initially appointed on 1 August 2015 for a three year term expiring 30 June 2018. Donna was 
a member of the Planning, Development and Communications Committee. With a career in consulting spanning 
20 years, Donna had extensive experience in corporate social responsibility, community engagement, social impact 
assessment and communications. She is currently a Director of Creating Communities, a social planning and community 
development firm and was its former Managing Director for more than 10 years.  

Donna Shepherd resigned from the Board effective 4 January 2016.

Directors’ meetings
Details of attendance by Directors at Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are set out below:

Director Board Audit and Risk 
Management 
Committee

Governance and 
Remuneration 
Committee

Planning,	
Development and 
Communications 
Committee

 Meetings 
attended

Eligible to 
attend1

Meetings 
attended

Eligible to 
attend1

Meetings 
attended

Eligible to 
attend1

Meetings 
attended

Eligible 
to attend1

Monty House 9 10 32 - 12 - 32 -

George 
McCullagh

10 10 42 - 2 2 3 3

Peter Cooke 10 10 12 - 2 2 3 3

Peter Gibbons 10 10 4 4 2 2 - -

Sue Middleton 10 10 4 4 - - - -

Simon Read 10 10 4 4 - - - -

Donna 
Shepherd

4 5 12 - - - 2 2

1 Indicates the number of meetings held during the period of each Director’s tenure.
2 Directors may attend Committee meetings as an observer.

Table 11 Board and Committee meeting attendance
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Principal activities
The Western Australian Land Authority, 
trading as LandCorp, is a Government 
trading enterprise established 
under the provisions of the Western 
Australian Land Authority Act 1992. 

The Act sets out a clear role for 
LandCorp to ensure the State’s future 
land needs are met in a commercially 
responsible manner and establishes 
lines of accountability with the 
State Government.

The functions of LandCorp are:

• To be an agency which provides, 
or promotes, the provision of 
land for the social and economic 
needs of the State;

• To be an agency through which 
the Crown and public authorities 
may dispose of land;

• To be an agency through which 
local governments and regional 
local governments may dispose of 
land in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1995;

• To complete the development 
of the Joondalup Centre, in 
accordance with the plan referred 
to in Section 18 on the land 
described in Schedule 2; and

• To identify other potential centres of 
population, including those in need 
of urban renewal, and use its powers 
to bring about the provision or 
improvement of land, infrastructure, 
facilities or services for the same.

There have been no significant 
changes to the nature of principal 
activities during the financial year.

Financial highlights
In line with our commercial principles 
specified in Section 19 of the Western 
Australian Land Authority Act 1992, 
development work was undertaken 
against the following Framework:

• Performing functions in a cost-
efficient manner;

• Endeavouring to surpass long-term 
financial targets specified in its 
Strategic Development Plan; and

• Ensuring no new project had an 
expected rate of return below a 
minimum hurdle rate specified in 
the Strategic Development Plan.  
LandCorp and Government have 
agreed to set the hurdle rate of 
return as a Weighted Average 
Cost of Capital.

Projects that make up the Regional 
Development Assistance Program are 
treated as one project for governance 
purposes.

Operating results 2015-16 ($M) 2014-15 ($M) 2013-14 ($M) 2012-13 ($M) 2011-12 ($M)

Profit Before Income 
Tax Equivalents

46.789 57.562 54.413 68.974 134.575

Income Tax Equivalents 
Expense

14.073 17.271 16.320 20.695 40.400

Net Profit 32.716 40.291 38.093 48.279 94.175

Table 12 Operating results
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Returns to the State
As specified in section 32 of the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, LandCorp pays rates and taxes. 
The following table outlines payments to Government in the last five (5) years in respect of rates, taxes and dividends.

The Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992 specifies how the dividend is to be determined by the Board and 
Minister. The Board of Directors is required to make a dividend recommendation to the responsible Minister as soon as 
practicable after the end of each financial year. The Minister is required to consult with the Treasurer and either accept 
the recommendation or otherwise determine the dividend payable by LandCorp.

The Treasurer determines the date the dividend is to be paid by LandCorp.

Operating results 2015-16 ($M) 2014-15 ($M) 2013-14 ($M) 2012-13 ($M) 2011-12 ($M)

Dividends Paid 31.653 32.442 31.946 94.070 31.096

Land Tax 54.257 49.863 46.682 41.461 49.246

Income Tax Equivalent Expense 14.073 17.272 16.320 20.695 40.400

Local Government 
Rate Equivalents

7.412 6.805 7.967 5.869 4.941

Stamp Duty 5.891 4.088 2.915 3.885 3.523

Total Returns to 
Government

113.286 110.469 105.830 165.980 129.206

Events subsequent to 
balance date
In the interval between the end 
of the financial year and the 
date of this report, there has 
not arisen any item, transaction 
or event of a material or 
unusual nature likely, in the 
opinion of the Directors, to 
significantly affect operations, 
the result of those operations, 
or the state of affairs in future 
financial years. 

Likely developments 
and future results
We will continue to work with 
Government, its stakeholders 
and customers to deliver the 
functions set out in the Western 
Australian Land Authority Act 
1992.

Expected future trading 
results, as set out in its 2016-17 
Statement of Corporate Intent 
is outlined in the adjacent table.

Expected future trading 
results

($M)

Sales Revenue (excl. GST) 300

Sundry Revenue 153

Cost of Land Sold (193)

Estate Costs (55)

Operating Costs (135)

Profit	before	Interest 71

Net Interest Expense (5)

Income Tax Expense (19)

Profit	after	Income	Tax 47

Payments to Government (through the Consolidated 
Fund) are expected to total around $112 million from 
2016-17 operations. This includes tax equivalents, 
stamp duty on land acquisitions and expected 
dividends.

Table 13 Total payments to Government

Table 14 Expected future trading results
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Remuneration report
Remuneration arrangements for key 
personnel refers to non-executive 
directors of the Board and Executives 
responsible for planning, directing 
and controlling operations.

Policy for determining the nature 
and amount of emoluments for key 
personnel is designed to attract, 
retain and engage appropriately 
qualified and experienced 
directors and executives. A Board 
committee, the Governance 
and Remuneration Committee, 
assists the Board by ensuring 
that appropriate and effective 
policies, plans and practices are in 
place in relation to remuneration 
arrangements and meets regularly 
to consider relevant matters.

Emoluments

Directors’ emoluments
The remuneration of directors is 
determined following independent 
advice from remuneration 
consultants and the Public Sector 
Commission and is approved 
by the Minister.

Remuneration is in the form 
of salary and superannuation 
contributions. Other than these, 
no other post-employment benefits 
are paid to directors.

In accordance with Section 13(c) 
of Schedule 3A of the Western 
Australian Land Authority Act 
1992, the following table shows the 
nature and amount of each element 
for each director.

Directors’ remuneration covers fees 
for attendance at Board meetings 
and committees. Directors are 
not remunerated separately for 
Board and committee attendance. 
Superannuation, at the required 
amount (9.5 per cent), is paid 
on fees as is required under 
the Superannuation Guarantee 
Administration Act 1992.

Director Fees* $

Monty House 114,393

George McCullagh 74,710

Peter Cooke 55,172

Peter Gibbons 55,172

Sue Middleton 53,537

Simon Read 55,172

Donna Shepherd 22,681

Directors’ benefits
On appointment  as a Director 
on the LandCorp Board Donna 
Shepherd declared her interests as 
a Director of Creating Communities, 
a consulting business that had 
previously completed assignments 
for LandCorp. During her tenure as 
a LandCorp Director contracts to 
a total of $15000 were awarded to 
Creating Communities for extension 
of a LandCorp assignment that 
predated her appointment. In line 
with Conflict of Interest protocols for 
LandCorp Ms Shepherd took no part 
in the deliberations associated with 
this contract variation.

In addition, during 2015-16 Creating 
Communities successfully tendered 
for the provision of consulting 
services through the Regional 
Cities Development Program 
administered by the Department 
of Regional Development. By 
administrative agreement, LandCorp 
provides project management, 
procurement and contract 
administration support to this 
program. Following assessment by 
an panel independent of LandCorp a 
contract was awarded for $275,556 
to Creating Communities.

Ms Shepherd resigned from the 
Board on January 4, 2016.

*Note: 27 fortnightly pays were made in 2015-
16 instead of the normal 26 due to pay period 
ending on 30 June 2016. This has resulted in a 
slight increase to remuneration for the year.

Table 15 Director remuneration fees
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Executive emoluments
The Chief Executive and Executives 
are paid a salary and receive 
superannuation contributions in 
line with Government entitlements. 
Where eligible, the private use 
component of a vehicle is provided. 
Decisions are made within the 
context of organisational and 
individual performance as well as 
what is consistent with equivalent 
bodies, industry benchmarks, existing 
government policy and the industrial 
relations system. 

A total fixed remuneration 
(TFR) approach is applied with 
flexible remuneration packaging 
arrangements, in line with industry 
best practice. This means that, 
although the components of the 
TFR or package may vary between 
remuneration reviews, the total 
amount remains constant. 

Superannuation paid is according 
to legislation and availability of 
other benefits (eg vehicles) is 
subject to organisational policy and 
eligibility requirements.

The remuneration of all staff is 
reviewed annually. The Board is 
responsible for the remuneration 
of the Chief Executive which is 
also reviewed annually (in line with 
Minister-approved contract of 
employment). The Chief Executive, 
in line with the policy set by the 
Governance and Remuneration 
Committee and the Board, sets 
executive remuneration based on 
annual salary survey data and advice 
from independent remuneration 
consultants as well as a range of 
other factors including performance 
and the public sector context.

Employees in management 
roles, including executives, are 
employed on individual, market-
based contracts.

No short or long term incentives, 
loans, grant options, rights or shares 
to key management personnel 
are provided.

Salary element 

Executives Salary Paid* $

Frank Marra 492,330

Kerry Fijac 339,970

Fiona Barclay 335,210

John Hackett 309,055

Dean Mudford 291,687

*Note: 27 fortnightly pays were made in 2015-16 
instead of the normal 26 due to pay period 
ending on 30 June 2016. This has resulted in a 
slight increase to remuneration for the year.

Table 16 Executive salary paid

 
The performance of the Chief 
Executive and the Executives is 
monitored against agreed criteria.

In accordance with Section 13(c) 
of Schedule 3A of the Western 
Australian Land Authority Act 
1992, the details of emoluments 
provided to the five named officers 
employed as at 30 June 2016 
receiving the highest emoluments 
are provided for the financial year by 
element of remuneration:

Superannuation element
Executives are paid superannuation in 
accordance with the Superannuation 
Guarantee Administration Act 1992. 
Currently the prescribed level is 9.5 
per cent of salary.

Two Executives are members of the 
Gold State Fund and receive 12 per 
cent  of salary in superannuation. 
Gold State Super was a defined 
benefit super scheme open to WA 
public sector employees until 1995. It 
is now closed to new members.

Other benefits (motor vehicle) 
element
Other benefits include the private 
use component of a vehicle, for those 
eligible. The value of the car to the 
remuneration package is based on 
private use component of the lease 

Executives Vehicle 
benefit	$

Frank Marra 11,804

Kerry Fijac 11,150

Fiona Barclay 0

John Hackett 10,139

Dean Mudford* 1,073

* Dean Mudford had vehicle benefit for part 
year only.

Table 17 Executive vehicle benefit

and operating costs plus Fringe 
Benefits Tax (FBT). All LandCorp 
vehicles attract a contribution from 
the employee to reduce FBT.

Indemnification and insurance of 
directors and officers
During the reporting period, 
directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance was maintained to ensure 
directors and officers are adequately 
covered.  The policy indemnifies 
directors and officers from loss which 
he/she becomes legally obligated 
to pay on account of any claim first 
made against him/her during the 
policy period for an insured act 
committed before or during the 
policy period.

The Authority has entered into deeds 
of indemnity with each director and 
officer to indemnify the director and 
officer in relation to certain liabilities 
incurred whilst a director or officer of 
the Authority.

At the date of this report no 
claims have been made against 
the directors’ and officers’ 
insurance policy.
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Rounding of amounts
Amounts have been rounded off 
to the nearest thousand dollars in 
the Directors’ Report and financial 
statements, unless otherwise shown 
or indicated. 

This Report is made in accordance 
with a resolution of the Board.

Monty House 
Chairperson 

29 August 2016

Simon Read 
Director
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Directors’ declaration

for the year ended 30 June 2016

The Directors declare that:

a) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto 
are in accordance with the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, 
including compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and giving a 
true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the Western 
Australian Land Authority (LandCorp); and

b) in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that 
LandCorp will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to 
Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992.

On behalf of the Directors

Monty House     Simon Read 
Chairman     Director

29 August 2016
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2016 2015

Note $'000 $'000

Continuing Operations

Operating revenue 2(a)  451,473  505,781 

Operating expenses 2(b)  (314,646)  (352,383)

Gross Profit  136,827  153,398 

Other revenue 2(a)  28,365  14,769 

Estate holding expenses  (53,889)  (47,970)

Employee benefit expenses  (27,805)  (26,202)

Consultant expenses  (3,532)  (3,574)

Advertising, public relations and sponsorship  (8,304)  (7,179)

Other expenses 2(b)  (20,713)  (22,299)

Results from operating activities  50,949  60,943 

Finance income 2(a)  1,195  1,643 

Finance costs  (5,355)  (5,024)

Net finance costs  (4,160)  (3,381)

Profit before income tax  46,789  57,562 

Income tax expense 3  (14,073)  (17,271)

Profit for the year  32,716  40,291 

Total comprehensive income for the year  32,716  40,291 

The Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of profit or loss and other  
comprehensive income

for the year ended 30 June 2016
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Statement of financial position

as at 30 June 2016

2016 2015

Note $'000 $'000
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 17(a), 20  21,707  4,012 

Receivables 4, 20 46,443  28,005 

Inventories 5 401,231  444,217 

Other financial assets 6 -  29,027 

Other assets 10 7,459  42,710 

Total current assets 476,840  547,971 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Receivables 4, 20 17,371  19,817 

Inventories 5 378,915  308,046 

Property, plant and equipment 7 306,589  286,395 

Intangibles 8 714  3,907 

Deferred tax assets 9 24,165  25,683 

Other assets 10  30,488  30,488 

Total non-current assets 758,242  674,336 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,235,082  1,222,307 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Payables 11, 20 61,585  94,110 

Loans and borrowings 15 28,750  125,522 

Current tax liabilities 12 5,872  9,422 

Provisions 13 4,929  5,201 

Other liabilities 14 16,613  5,904 

Total current liabilities 117,749  240,159 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions 13 1,894  1,921 

Borrowings 15 121,250 -
Other liabilities 14  32,565  32,947 
Total non-current liabilities  155,709  34,868 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 273,458  275,027 

NET ASSETS  961,624  947,280 

EQUITY
Contributed equity 16  408,823  395,542 
Retained earnings 552,801  551,738 

TOTAL EQUITY 961,624  947,280 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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$’000 $'000 $'000
Contributed 

Equity
Retained  

Profits  Total 

Balance at 1 July 2014  385,422  543,889  929,311 

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year  -  40,291  40,291 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  - 

Total other comprehensive income  -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  40,291  40,291 

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity

Dividends (note 24)  -  (32,442)  (32,442)

Contributions of equity (note 16)  10,120  -  10,120 

Balance at 30 June 2015  395,542  551,738  947,280 

Balance at 1 July 2015  395,542  551,738  947,280 

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year  -  32,716  32,716 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  - 

Total other comprehensive income  -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  32,716  32,716 

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity

Dividends (note 24)  -  (31,653)  (31,653)

Contributions of equity (note 16)  13,281  -  13,281 

Balance at 30 June 2016  408,823  552,801  961,624 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 30 June 2016
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for the year ended 30 June 2016

Statement of cash flows

2016 2015

Note $'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers  383,859  564,378 

Operating subsidies received  117,324  103,640 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (475,556)  (584,610)

Interest received  1,195  2,014 

Income tax paid  (16,105)  (14,369)

Net cash from operating activities 17(b)  10,717  71,053 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for investments  (229,500)  (103,013)

Proceeds on sale of investments  258,527  88,986 

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (24,120)  (11,490)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  -  194 

Net cash from/ (used in) investing activities  4,907  (25,323)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from equity contribution  14,601  10,120 

Proceeds from borrowings  187,963  127,567 

Repayment of borrowings  (163,485)  (161,998)

Payment of dividend  (31,653)  (32,442)

Finance interest paid  (5,355)  (4,850)

Net cash from/ (used in) financing activities  2,071  (61,603)

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  17,695  (15,873)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  4,012  19,885 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 17(a)  21,707  4,012 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 30 June 2016

Western Australian Land Authority 
(LandCorp) is the Western Australian 
Government’s land and property 
development agency with its office 
and principal place of business as 
follows:

Level 6 Wesfarmers House
40 The Esplanade
PERTH, WA 6000

LandCorp is a not-for-profit entity 
that is controlled by the State 
Government of Western Australia.

Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies

The following accounting policies 
have been adopted in the preparation 
of the financial statements.  Unless 
otherwise stated these policies are 
consistent with those adopted in the 
previous year.

The financial statements were 
authorised for issue by the Directors 
on 29 August 2016.

a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements 
constitute a general purpose 
financial report which has 
been prepared in accordance 
with the Western Australian 
Land Authority Act 1992, 
Australian Accounting Standards 
(AASBs) (including Australian 
Interpretations) adopted by the 
Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) except for AASB 
8 Operating Segments, AASB 
120 Accounting for Government 
Grants and Disclosure of 
Government Assistance and AASB 
124 Related Party Disclosures 
(which are not applicable to not-
for-profit entities).

The statements have been 
prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting using the historical 
cost convention.  Accounting 
policies have been applied in 
a manner which ensures the 
resulting financial information 

satisfies the concepts of relevance 
and reliability.

Fair value is the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid 
to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market 
participants at the measurement 
date, regardless of whether that 
price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation 
technique. 

In estimating the fair value of an 
asset or a liability, LandCorp takes 
into account the characteristics 
of the asset or liability if market 
participants would take those 
characteristics into account when 
pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date. 

Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these 
financial statements is determined 
on such a basis, except for 
leasing transactions that are 
within the scope of AASB 117, and 
measurements that have some 
similarities to fair value but are not 
fair value, such as net realisable 
value in AASB 2 or value in use in 
AASB 136.

b) Functional and presentation 
currency
The financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars, 
which is both the functional 
and presentation currency of 
LandCorp.

c) Use of estimates and 
judgements
The preparation of financial 
statements in conformity with 
Australian Accounting Standards 
requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies 
and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses.  Actual results may 
differ from the estimates. 

Estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which 
the estimate is revised and in 
any future periods affected.  
In particular, information 
about significant areas of 
estimation uncertainty and 
critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies that have the 
most significant effect on the 
amount recognised in the financial 
statements are described in the 
following notes:

• Note 4 Receivables, with 
reference to Note 20 Financial 
Instruments

• Note 5 Inventories
• Note 9 Deferred tax assets and 

liabilities
• Note 13 Provisions, with 

reference to Note 18 Employee 
Benefits

• Note 18 Commitments, with 
reference to Note 25 Leasing 
arrangements

d) Application of new and 
revised Accounting 
Standards

i) Standards and Interpretations 
affecting amounts reported in 
the current period (and/or prior 
periods)

In the current year, LandCorp 
has reviewed revised accounting 
standards issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB) that are mandatorily 
effective for an accounting period 
that begins on or after 1 January 
2015 and therefore relevant for the 
current year end.

These Standards and 
Interpretations did not have a 
material impact on the financial 
statements or performance of 
LandCorp. 
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Standard/Interpretation Effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after

Expected to be initially applied 
in the financial year ending

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and the relevant 
amending standards

1 January 2018 30 June 2019

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
and AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15

1 January 2017 30 June 2018

AASB 16 Leases 1 January 2019 30 June 2020

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

1 January 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards Annual Improvements to 
Australian Accounting Standards 2012-2014 Cycle

1 January 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 101

1 January 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - Extending Related Party 
Disclosures to Non-for-Profit Public Sector Entities

1 July 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of 
Non-for-Profit Public Sector Entities

1 July 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2016-1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Recognition of Deferred 
Tax assets for Unrealised Losses

1 January 2017 30 June 2018

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 107

1 January 2017 30 June 2018

At the date of publication the following IASB Standards and IFRIC Interpretations (for which Australian equivalent 
Standards and Interpretations have not yet been issued) were in issue but not yet effective.

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
– arising from the Withdrawal of 
AASB 1031 Materiality.

AASB 2015-4  Amendments to 
Australian Accounting standards – 
Financial Reporting requirements 
for  Australian Groups with a 
Foreign Parent.

Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
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ii) Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and Interpretations listed below were in issue but 
not yet effective:



e) Payables

 Payables, including accruals not 
yet billed, are recognised when 
LandCorp becomes obliged 
to make future payments as a 
result of a purchase of assets or 
services.  Payables are generally 
settled within 30 days.  Payables 
are measured initially at fair value 
and subsequently at amortised 
cost using the effective interest 
method.

f) Property, plant and 
equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and 
equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.  Cost includes 
expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of 
the asset. 

An item of property, plant and 
equipment may be gifted or 
contributed to LandCorp.  Under 
these circumstances the deemed 
cost of the item is its fair value 
as at the date it was gifted or 
contributed.

(ii) Subsequent costs

The costs of replacing part of 
an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised in the 
carrying amount of the item if it is 
probable that the future economic 
benefits embodied within the 
part will flow to LandCorp and 
the cost can be measured reliably.  
The carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognised.  
The costs of day-to-day servicing 
of property, plant and equipment 
are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost 
of an asset less its residual value.  
Property, plant and equipment 
having a limited useful life are 
systematically depreciated over 
their useful lives in a manner 
which reflects the consumption 
of their future economic benefits.  
No depreciation is charged on 
freehold land.  Depreciation is 
provided for on the straight 
line basis so as to write off the 
net cost of each asset over 
its expected useful life to its 
estimated residual value using 
rates which are reviewed annually. 

The following estimated useful 
lives are used in the calculation 
of depreciation for each class of 
depreciable asset unless another 
method provides a better estimate 
of useful life: 

Buildings 25 - 40 years

Furniture & Office
Equipment 4 - 10 years

Computer Equipment 3 years

Leasehold
Improvements  3 years

Plant & Equipment 10 years

Infrastructure 22 years

The assets’ residual values and 
useful lives are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at each 
balance sheet date.  

Items of property, plant and 
equipment costing less than 
$1,000 are expensed in the year 
of acquisition (other than where 
they form part of a group of similar 
items which are significant in total). 

Capital Works in Progress 
includes expenditure on assets 
which are under construction 
but not substantially complete at 
reporting date.

g) Intangible assets

Computer software has a limited 
useful life and is carried at cost 
less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment.  Amortisation is 
charged on a straight line basis 
over an estimated useful life of 
four years, which is reviewed 
annually, with the effect of 
any changes in estimate being 
accounted for on a prospective 
basis.

h) Employee benefits

(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, 
including non-monetary benefits, 
and annual leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date are recognised in 
provision for employees benefits 
in respect of employees’ services 
up to the reporting date. They 
are calculated at undiscounted 
amounts based on the wage 
and salary rates that LandCorp 
expects to pay as at reporting 
date including related on-costs 
such as workers compensation 
insurance and payroll tax. Non-
accumulating non-monetary 
benefits such as medical care and 
cars are expensed based on the 
net marginal cost to LandCorp 
as the benefits are taken by 
employees.

(ii) Long service and annual leave

The liability for long service leave 
is recognised in the provision for 
employee benefits and measured 
as the present value of expected 
future payments to be made 
in respect of services provided 
by the employees up to the 
reporting date plus related on-
costs. Consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary 
levels, experience of employee 
departures, and periods of service.
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Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies (cont’d)

h) Employee benefits (cont’d)

Expected future payments are 
discounted using a discount rate 
of 1.6% pa which was based on 
the Commonwealth Government 
bond rate at 30 June 2016 (2015: 
2.74% pa). The method used is 
the actuarial cost method. Any 
actuarial gains or losses are 
recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise.

The last actuarial assessment of 
long service leave was performed 
in June 2016 in respect of the 
year ended 30 June 2016. An 
assessment is carried out on an 
annual basis and will provide the 
basis for the liability reported.

(iii) Superannuation

• Defined contribution 
superannuation funds:

Obligations for contributions 
to defined contribution 
superannuation funds are       
recognised as an expense in profit 
or loss when they are due.

• Defined benefit superannuation 
funds:

LandCorp does not have any 
defined benefit superannuation 
scheme.  Certain employees of 
LandCorp are members of the 
Gold State Super which is a state 
plan funded by contributions 
from employers and LandCorp 
does not have any legal liability 
to cover any deficit arising from 
this scheme.  However, certain 
employees of LandCorp who were 
former members of a pension 
scheme had transferred to Gold 
State Super prior to its closure.  
In respect of their transferred 
benefits these members receive 
a lump sum benefit at retirement, 
death or invalidity which is 
related to their salary during their 
employment and indexed during 
any deferral period after leaving 
public sector employment. 

The pre-transfer service benefits 
(which is unfunded) of these 
employees who transferred to the 
Gold State Super was a liability 
of LandCorp in the prior year 
and was determined by actuarial 
valuations carried out at each 
reporting date.     Actuarial gains 
and losses are recognised in full 
in the Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income 
in the period which they occur. 
During the year the provision 
was reversed on payment of the 
Gold State Super.

i) Contributed equity

Capital contributions have been 
designated as contributions 
by owners and have been 
credited directly to Contributed 
Equity in the Statement of 
Financial Position only when 
such contributions have been 
designated by the Department of 
Treasury as a contribution by the 
owner at the time of or prior to 
the transfer.

j) Foreign currency

All foreign currency transactions 
during the year are brought to 
account using the exchange 
rate in effect at the date of the 
transaction.  Foreign currency 
monetary items at reporting date 
are translated at the exchange rate 
existing at that date. Exchange 
differences are recognised in profit 
or loss in the period in which 
they arise.

k) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets 
are recognised net of the amount 
of goods and services tax (GST), 
except:

• where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable 
from the taxation authority, 
it is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of an 
asset or as part of an item of 
expense; or

• for receivables and payables 

which are recognised inclusive 
of GST.

The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is included 
as part of receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the 
cash flow statement on a gross 
basis.  The GST component of 
cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities which is 
recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is classified 
as operating cash flows.

l) Income tax

LandCorp entered into the 
National Tax Equivalent Regime 
(NTER) in 2001/02 whereby an 
equivalent amount in respect 
of income tax is payable to the 
Department of Treasury.  The 
calculation of the liability in 
respect of income tax is governed 
by NTER guidelines agreed by the 
State Government.  The NTER is 
administered by the Australian 
Taxation Office.

As a consequence of participation 
in the NTER, LandCorp is required 
to comply with Accounting 
Standard AASB 112 Income Taxes.

(i) Current tax

Current tax is the expected tax 
payable or receivable on the 
taxable income or loss for the 
year, using tax rates enacted 
or subsequently enacted at 
the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years.   
Current tax is calculated by 
reference to the amount of income 
taxes payable or recoverable 
in respect of the taxable profit 
or loss for the period.  It is 
calculated using tax rates and tax 
laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by reporting 
date.  Current tax for current and 
prior periods is recognised as a 
liability (or asset) to the extent it is 
unpaid (or refundable).
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Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies (cont’d)

l) Income tax (cont’d)

(ii) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is accounted for 
using the balance sheet liability 
method.  Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are recognised for 
temporary differences at the tax 
rates expected to apply when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities 
are settled.  

The relevant tax rates are 
applied to the cumulative 
amounts of deductible and 
taxable temporary differences to 
measure the deferred tax asset 
or liability.  Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are not recognised 
if the temporary differences 
giving rise to them arise from the 
initial recognition of assets and 
liabilities (other than as a result 
of a business combination) which 
affects neither taxable income nor 
accounting profit.  Furthermore, 
a deferred tax liability is not 
recognised in relation to taxable 
temporary differences arising from 
the recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised 
for deductible temporary 
differences only if it is probable 
that future taxable amounts 
will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences.

In determining the amount 
of current and deferred tax 
LandCorp takes into account the 
impact of uncertain tax positions 
and whether additional taxes and 
interest may be due.  LandCorp 
believes that its accruals for tax 
liabilities are adequate for all open 
tax years based on its assessment 
of many factors, including 
interpretations of tax law and prior 
experience.  This assessment relies 
on estimates and assumptions 
and may involve a series of 
judgements about future events.  

New information may become 
available that causes LandCorp to 
change its judgement regarding 
the adequacy of existing tax 
liabilities; such changes to 
tax liabilities will impact tax 
expense in the period that such a 
determination is made. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset 
current tax liabilities and assets, 
and they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same tax authority 
on the same taxable entity, or 
on different tax entities, but 
they intend to settle current tax 
liabilities and assets on a basis or 
their tax assets and liabilities will 
be realised simultaneously.

m) Inventory – land held for sale

Land held for sale comprising 
development properties are 
carried at the lower of cost or 
net realisable value (based on 
undiscounted cash flows).  Cost 
includes the cost of acquisition 
and development.  Amounts are 
disclosed as current where it 
is anticipated that land will be 
developed ready for sale within 
twelve months after reporting 
date.  Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling 
price less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to 
make the sale.

n) Lease arrangements

Leases are classified at their 
inception as either operating 
or finance leases based on the 
economic substance of the 
agreement so as to reflect the 
risks and benefits incidental to 
ownership.

Leases in terms of which 
LandCorp (as a lessee) assumes 
substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases.  Upon 
initial recognition, the leased asset 

is measured at an amount equal 
to the lower of its fair value and 
the present value of the minimum 
lease payments.  Subsequent to 
initial recognition, the asset is 
accounted for in accordance with 
the accounting policy applicable 
to that asset.  Leases other than 
finance leases are operating leases 
and where LandCorp is the lessee 
in an operating lease arrangement, 
leased assets are not recognised 
on the balance sheet.

LandCorp is a lessor in a number 
of operating leases of industrial, 
grazing and residential property.  
These assets are recognised on 
the balance sheet as items of 
property plant and equipment 
or inventory.  Refer to note 1(f) 
and note 1(m) for accounting 
treatment.

o) Lease payments

LandCorp is a lessee in a number 
of operating leases.  Payments 
made under operating leases are 
recognised in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease.  Lease incentives 
received are recognised as an 
integral part of the total lease 
expense, over the term of the 
lease.

p) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when 
LandCorp has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, and it is probable 
that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the 
present value of management’s 
best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present 
obligation at the balance sheet 
date. If the effect of the time value 
of money is material, provisions
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Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies (cont’d)

p) Provisions (cont’d)

are determined by discounting 
the expected future cash flows 
at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the 
time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to 
the liability. The increase in the 
provision due to the passage 
of time is recognised as a 
finance cost. 

When some or all of the economic 
benefits required to settle a 
provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the 
receivable is recognised as an 
asset if it is virtually certain that 
recovery will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be 
measured reliably.

(i) Onerous Contracts

Present obligations arising under 
onerous contracts are recognised 
and measured as a provision.  An 
onerous contract is considered 
to exist where LandCorp has 
a contract under which the 
unavoidable costs of meeting the 
obligations under the contract 
exceed the economic benefits 
expected to be received under it.

q) Financial Assets

Financial assets are classified 
into the following specified 
categories: financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss, 
held-to-maturity investments, 
available-for-sale financial assets 
and loans and receivables.  The 
classification depends on the 
nature and purpose of the 
financial assets and is determined 
at the time of initial recognition.  
All regular way purchases or sales 
of financial assets are recognised 
and derecognised on a trade date 
basis.  Regular way purchases 
or sales are purchases or sales 

of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the time 
frame established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace. 

(i) Effective interest method

The effective interest method 
is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt 
instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant 
period.  The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash 
receipts (including all fees on 
points paid or received that form 
an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of 
the debt instrument, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to 
the net carrying amount on initial 
recognition.

Income is recognised on an 
effective interest basis for debt 
instruments other than those 
financial assets classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss.

(ii) Held-to-maturity investments 

Commercial bills and term 
deposits with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed 
maturity dates that LandCorp 
has the positive intent and ability 
to hold to maturity are classified 
as held-to-maturity investments. 
Held-to-maturity investments are 
measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method less 
any impairment. 

(iii) Loans and receivables 

Trade receivables, loans, and 
other receivables that have 
fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as ‘loans and 
receivables’. Loans and receivables 
are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment.  

Interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate, 
except for short-term receivables 
when the effect of discounting is 
immaterial.

(iv) Derecognition of financial 
assets

LandCorp derecognises a financial 
asset only when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it 
transfers the financial asset and 
substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another party. 

If LandCorp neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership 
and continues to control the 
transferred asset, LandCorp 
recognises its retained interest 
in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may 
have to pay. If LandCorp retains 
substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a 
transferred financial asset, 
LandCorp continues to recognise 
the financial asset and also 
recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds 
received.  On derecognition of a 
financial asset in its entirety, the 
difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of 
the consideration received and 
receivable and the cumulative gain 
or loss that had been recognised 
in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity is 
recognised in profit or loss.

r) Receivables

Trade receivables and other 
receivables are recognised at cost, 
less any impairment losses. 

s) Impairment of assets 

(i) Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of 
LandCorp’s assets, other than
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Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies (cont’d)

s) Impairment of assets (cont’d)

deferred tax assets, are reviewed 
at each reporting date to 
determine whether there are any 
indicators of impairment.  If any 
such indication exists then the 
asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. For intangible assets 
that have an indefinite life or 
are not yet available for use, 
recoverable amount is estimated 
annually and whenever there is an 
indication of impairment.

An impairment loss is recognised 
if the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount.  
Impairment losses are recognised 
in profit or loss.  The recoverable 
amount of an asset is the greater 
of its value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell.  In assessing the 
value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset.

Impairment losses recognised in 
prior periods are assessed at each 
reporting date for any indications 
that a loss has decreased or no 
longer exists.  An impairment 
loss is reversed if there has been 
a change in the estimates used 
to determine the recoverable 
amount.  An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that 
the asset’s carrying amount does 
not exceed the amount that 
would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortisation, 
had no impairment loss been 
recognised in prior periods.

(ii) Financial assets

Financial assets, other than those 
at fair value through profit or loss, 
are assessed for indicators of 
impairment at each balance sheet 

date. Financial assets are impaired 
where there is objective evidence 
that as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the financial 
asset the estimated future cash 
flows of the investment have been 
impacted. For financial assets 
carried at amortised cost, the 
amount of the impairment is the 
difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the 
financial asset is reduced by the 
impairment loss directly for all 
financial assets with the exception 
of trade receivables where the 
carrying amount is reduced 
through the use of an allowance 
account. When a trade receivable 
is uncollectible, it is written off 
against the allowance account.  
Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited 
against the allowance account.  
Changes in the carrying amount 
of the allowance account are 
recognised in profit or loss.

t) Revenue recognition

Revenue from land sales is 
recognised when all the following 
conditions are satisfied:

• LandCorp has transferred to 
the buyer the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership 
of the land.  The transfer 
of effective control either 
occurs with the transfer of 
title (registration of a transfer 
document); or through the  
execution of an early access 
licence, in conjunction with an 
unconditional contract of sale.

• LandCorp retains neither 
the continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree 
usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control 
over the land;

• the amount of revenue can be 
reliably measured;

• it is probable that the 
economic benefits associated 
with the transaction will flow 
to LandCorp; and 

• the costs incurred or to be 
incurred in respect of the 
transaction can be measured 
reliably.

Rent revenue from operating 
leases is recognised as income 
on a straight line basis over the 
rental term.

Royalty revenue is recognised on 
an accruals basis in accordance 
with the substance of the relevant 
agreement.

Interest revenue is recognised on 
a time proportionate basis that 
takes into account the effective 
yield on the principal sum of the 
financial asset.

Project management revenue 
is recognised in profit or loss 
in proportion to the stage of 
completion of the transaction 
at the reporting date.  The 
stage of completion is assessed 
by reference to surveys of 
work performed. 

Services received free of charge 
are recognised as revenue when 
and only when a fair value can 
be reliably determined and 
the services would have been 
purchased if they had not been 
donated.  Consequently, use of 
those resources is recognised as 
an expense.

Unearned revenue comprises 
prepaid rental income, upfront 
capital lease payments 
and partnering agreement 
participation fees received but not 
yet earned. Unearned revenue is 
released to income as and when 
the services for which it was paid 
are delivered. 
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Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies (cont’d)

u) Operating subsidy project 
funding

LandCorp receives Operating 
Subsidy funding for certain 
projects from the Department of 
Treasury and other Government 
agencies as a contribution 
towards either holding costs, land 
acquisitions or land development 
and associated costs.  This 
funding is required to ensure 
LandCorp achieves its hurdle rate 
of return on these projects and 
is recognised as revenue in the 
statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income 
when received by LandCorp. 
At 30 June 2016 Landcorp had 
$30,806,271: (2015 $29,344,200) 
to be spent on designated 
Royalties for Regions or operating 
subsidy projects. This grant 
funding can only be used for 
Royalty for Regions projects or 
projects that receive operating 
subsidy funding. 

v) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand 
and demand deposits.  Cash 
equivalents are highly liquid 
investments with short periods 
to maturity which is readily 
convertible to cash and are 
subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts.

w) Investments

LandCorp in the prior year held  
investments in commercial bills 
and term deposits which are 
recognised and derecognised on 
trade date where the purchase 
or sale of an investment is under 
a contract whose terms require 
delivery of the investment within 
the timeframe established by the 
market concerned, and are initially 
measured at fair value, net of 
transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investments in commercial bills 
and term deposits are recorded at 
amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less impairment, 
with revenue recognised on an 
effective yield basis.

x)  Rounding

All amounts in the financial report 
have been rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars unless otherwise 
indicated.

y) Comparative amounts

When the presentation or 
classification of items in the 
financial report is amended, 
comparative amounts 
are reclassified unless the 
reclassification is impracticable.  
When comparative amounts are 
reclassified, LandCorp discloses:

• the nature of the classification;

• the amount of each item 
or class of items that is 
reclassified; and 

• the reason for the 
reclassification.

z) Change in accounting policy

LandCorp made no changes to 
its accounting policies during 
the year.
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Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2015

$'000 $'000

Note 2 Profit before income tax
Profit before income tax includes the following items of 
revenue and expense

a) Revenue
Operating revenue
Land sales  284,556  342,530 
Grants to fund operating subsidy projects  92,877  77,464 
Property rent revenue  38,872  53,438 
Property expenses recovery  4,256  2,481 
Grants to fund operating subsidy projects - holding costs  25,767  26,175 
Royalties  1,461  655 
Project management revenue  3,684  3,038 
Total operating revenue  451,473  505,781 

Other revenue
Participation fees  -  2,644 
Other  28,365  12,125 
Total other revenue  28,365  14,769 
Non-operating revenue
Interest revenue  1,195  1,643 
Total non-operating revenue  1,195  1,643 

Total other revenue  29,560  16,412 

b) Expenses from ordinary activities
Operating costs  
Cost of sales  (183,571)  (223,670)
Operating subsidy project expenditure  (90,898)  (85,863)
Property management expenses  (40,177)  (42,850)
Total operating costs  (314,646)  (352,383)

Other expenses from operating activities
Administration expenses  (4,291)  (5,047)
Accommodation expenses  (2,743)  (2,238)
Land study expenses  (814)  (922)
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  (3)  (14)
Depreciation and amortisation  (12,869)  (14,089)
Other expenses  7  11 
Total other expenses from operating activities  (20,713)  (22,299)
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2016 2015

$'000 $'000

Note 3 Income tax expense

Current tax expense

Current year  10,956  15,221 

 10,956  15,221 

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  3,117  2,050 

Change in unrecognised temporary differences  -  - 

 3,117  2,050 

Income tax expense from continuing operations  14,073  17,271 

Total income tax expense  14,073  17,271 

Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax 
accounting profit

Total comprehensive income for the year  32,716  40,291 

Total income tax expense  14,073  17,271 

Profit excluding income tax  46,789  57,562 

Income tax using LandCorp’s domestic rate of 30% (2015: 30%)  14,037  17,269 

Non-deductible expenses  23  2 

Under provision in respect of prior years  13 -

Tax incentives  -  - 

Total income tax expense  14,073  17,271 
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2016 2015

$'000 $'000

Note 4 Receivables

Current

Trade receivables  42,964  22,937 

Less allowance for doubtful debts  -  (103)

 42,964  22,834 

GST receivable  3,479  5,171 

Total current receivables  46,443  28,005 

Non-current

Trade receivables  17,371  19,817 

Total receivables  63,814  47,822 

Refer to note 20 for discussion of financial risks associated with receivables.

Note 5 Inventories

Current - land under development and developed land

at cost  371,896  424,200 

at net realisable value  29,335  20,017 

Total current inventories  401,231  444,217 

Non-current - undeveloped land

at cost  364,644  296,775 

at net realisable value  14,271  11,271 

Total non-current inventories  378,915  308,046 

Total inventories  780,146  752,263 

Land held for sale comprises

Cost of acquisition  383,104  365,482 

Development costs  397,042  386,781 

Total inventories  780,146  752,263 

The most recent valuations for undeveloped land held for sale were valuations as at January 2016. For land in the 
Perth metropolitan area and the Bunbury region, valuations were provided by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services).  For all other undeveloped land the valuations were provided by Opteon Property Group. 
The valuations of developed land held for sale have been determined taking into account advice from independent valuers 
and real estate agents in accordance with LandCorp’s list price and valuation policies and under relevant delegated 
authorities. List prices are generally reviewed at least twice a year (depending on the type of land) except during static 
market conditions whereby prices may be reviewed less frequently under the instruction of a relevant delegated authority.

Market value of developed land and undeveloped land held at 30 June 2016 amounted to $1,851,552,000 (2015: 
$2,032,845,000).

At 30 June 2016 the write-down of inventories to net realiseable value amounted to $8,520,885 (2015: $3,622,000). There 
were no reversal of write-downs. The write-downs are included in cost of sales.
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2016 2015

$'000 $'000

Note 6 Other financial assets

Current

Commercial bills/ investments (note 20(b))  -  29,027 
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Note 7 Property, plant and equipment

Capital 
works in 
progress

$’000

Freehold 
land

$'000
Buildings

$'000

Infra-
structure

$’000
Equipment

$’000
Total

$’000

Cost or deemed cost

Balance at 30 June 2014 -  74,691  27,615  27,191  217,488  346,985 

Additions  -  9,882  -  -  234  10,116 

Cost revisions -  225  -  -  1,178  1,403 

Reclassification  -  -  -  -  (663)  (663)

Disposals  -  -  (3)  -  (554)  (557)

Balance at 30 June 2015  -  84,798  27,612  27,191  217,683  357,284 

Additions  -  6,248  23,604  -  70  29,922 

Cost revisions  -  -  -  -  97  97 

Reclassification  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disposals  -  (495)  -  -  (907)  (1,402)

Balance at 30 June 2016  -  90,551  51,216  27,191  216,943  385,901 

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 30 June 2014  (10,577)  (9,916)  (40,221)  (60,714)

Disposals  3  -  540  543 

Reclassification  -  -  -  - 

Depreciation expense  (999)  (1,188)  (8,531)  (10,718)

Balance at 30 June 2015  (11,573)  (11,104)  (48,212)  (70,889)

Disposals  -  -  903  903 

Reclassification  -  -  -  - 

Depreciation expense  (1,086)  (1,188)  (7,052)  (9,326)

Balance at 30 June 2016  (12,659)  (12,292)  (54,361)  (79,312)

Carrying amounts

at 30 June 2015  - 84,798  16,039  16,087  169,471  286,395 

at 30 June 2016  -  90,551  38,557  14,899  162,582  306,589 

LandCorp obtained valuations from the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services), for land in 
the Perth metropolitan and the Bunbury region, and the Opteon Property Group, for land held in other regions, to support 
the carrying value of freehold land included in property, plant and equipment based on their estimated market value at 
1 January 2016. Market value of freehold land at 30 June 2016 was $464,052,000 (2015: $440,084,000).

Non-Current



Note 8 Intangible assets

Non-current

Computer 
software

$’000

Cost

Balance at 30 June 2014  12,982 

Additions  663 

Cost revisions  336 

Asset improvements  (2)

Balance at 30 June 2015  13,979 

Additions  350 

Cost revisions  - 

Disposals  - 

Balance at 30 June 2016  14,329 

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at 30 June 2014  (6,701)

Disposals  - 

Amortisation expense  (3,371)

Balance at 30 June 2015  (10,072)

Disposals  - 

Amortisation expense  (3,543)

Balance at 30 June 2016  (13,615)

Carrying amounts

at 30 June 2015  3,907 

at 30 June 2016  714 
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2016 2015

$'000 $'000

Note 9 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Non-current

Deferred tax asset   24,165    25,683  

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect 
of the following items:

Deductible temporary differences  10,823  10,823 

 10,823  10,823 

The deductible temporary differences do not expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been 
recognised in respect of these items because they will only become available in the event that the underlying assets are 
held until utilisation of all capital works deductions.

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities and movement in temporary differences during the year   
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

2016 
Temporary differences

Opening 
balance

$'000

Recognised 
in profit  

or loss
$'000

Under 
(over) 

provision in 
prior year

$’000

Recognised 
directly in 

equity
$’000

Closing 
balance

$’000

Inventories  19,529  (927)  -  -  18,602 

Property, plant and equipment  5,397  (1,491)  -  -  3,906 

Accrued expenses  41  1  -  -  42 

Provision for superannuation  2  (2)  -  -  - 

Provision for annual leave  740  (67)  -  -  673 

Provision for long service leave  1,395  (21)  -  -  1,374 

Provision for doubtful debts  30  (31)  -  -  (1)

Non-current receivables - long term debtors  -  - - -  - 

Joint venture income recognition  -  - -  -  - 

Licence fee income recognition  -  - - -  - 

Provision for fringe benefit tax  4  -  -  -  4 

Provision for future development obligation  4,713  -  1,599  -  6,312 

Accrued interest income  -  (44)  -  -  (44)

Recognition of long leases  5,499  (115)  -  -  5,384 

Income received in advance  (8,824)  (420)  -  -  (9,244)

Unsettled lots  -  - - -  - 

Joint venture development costs  (2,843)  -  -  -  (2,843)

 25,683  (3,117)  1,599  -  24,165 
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Note 9 Deferred tax assets and liabilities (cont’d)       

2015 
Temporary differences

Opening 
balance

$'000

Recognised 
in profit  

or loss
$'000

Under 
(over) 

provision in 
prior year

$’000

Recognised 
directly in 

equity
$’000

Closing 
balance

$’000

Inventories  20,650  (1,121)  -  -  19,529 

Property, plant and equipment  6,026  (629)  -  -  5,397 

Accrued expenses  40  1  -  -  41 

Provision for superannuation  2  -  -  -  2 

Provision for annual leave  644  96  -  -  740 

Provision for long service leave  1,448  (53)  -  -  1,395 

Provision for doubtful debts  65  (35)  -  -  30 

Non-current receivable - long term debtors  -  -  - -  - 

Joint venture income recognition  931  (793)  (138)  -  - 

Licence fee income recognition  -  -  - -  - 

Provision for Fringe Benefit Tax  13  (9)  -  -  4 

Provision for future development obligation  4,596  117  -  -  4,713 

Accrued interest income  (33)  33  -  -  - 

Recognition of long leases  5,614  (115)  -  -  5,499 

Income received in advance  (11,048)  2,224  -  -  (8,824)

Unsettled lots  -  -  - -  - 

Joint venture development costs  (1,468)  (1,375)  -  (2,843)

Hedging reserve  -  -  -  -  - 

 27,480  (1,659)  (138)  -  25,683 

Movement in unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

Balance 
1 July 14

$'000
Recognised

$'000

Balance 
1 July 15

$’000
Recognised

$’000

Balance 
30 June 16

$’000

Deductible temporary differences  10,823  -   10,823  -   10,823 
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2016 2015

$'000 $'000

Note 10 Other assets
Current

Deposit bonds  457  1,251 

Deposits for land acquisitions  -  38,299 

Prepayments  7,002  3,160 

Total current other assets  7,459  42,710 

Non-current

Deposits for land acquisitions  30,488  30,488 

Note 11 Payables

Current

Trade payables  8,193  22,616 

Accrued expenses  44,563  66,725 

GST payable  8,829  4,769 

Total current payables  61,585  94,110 

Note 12 Tax liabilities

Current

Income tax payable   5,872   9,422 
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Note 13 Provisions

Current

Employee benefits (note 18(a))  4,929  5,201 

Total current provisions  4,929  5,201 

Non-current

Employee benefits (note 18(a))  1,894  1,915

Defined benefit superannuation plan (note 18(b))  -    6   

Total non-current provisions  1,894  1,921 

Note 14 Other liabilities
Current

Deposits (i)  9,126  2,371 

Unearned revenue  7,487  3,533 

Total current other liabilities  16,613  5,904 

Non-current

Unearned revenue  17,565  17,947 

Other  15,000  15,000 

Total non-current other liabilities  32,565  32,947 

(i) Deposits include deposits received on sale of land.



2016 2015

$'000 $'000

Note 16 Equity

Contributed equity

Opening balance:

Capital contributed on formation  113,957  113,957 

Capital contributed by State Government  281,585  271,465 

Capital contributed by State Government during the year (i)  13,281  10,120 

Total contributed equity  408,823  395,542 

(i) Capital contributed by State Government during the year

Department of Treasury funding  -  9,120 

Royalties for Regions funding  13,281  1,000 

Total capital contributed by State Government during the year 13,281 10,120
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Note 15 Borrowings

Current

Liquidity Portolio Manager - 125,522

Debt Portolio Manager 28,750 -

Total current borrowings  28,750  125,522 

Non-Current   

Debt Portolio Manager  121,250 - 

Total non-current borrowings 121,250 -

Total Loans and Borrowings 150,000 125,522

Financing facilities

Unsecured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable at call:

Amount used - -

Amount unused 2,000 2,000

2,000 2,000

Secured loan facilities with Western Australian Treasury Corporation 
(WATC)

Amount used 150,000 125,522

Amount unused 150,000 210,478

300,000 336,000

During the year, LandCorp entered into a 5 year rolling Debt Portfolio Manager facility with the Western Australian 
Treasury Corporation. Under this facility, LandCorp has the ability to repay a maximum of 20% of the facility per year.

Through the State Budget, Government has approved LandCorp’s borrowing projections based on cash flow estimates 
and the limits are as follows:

Borrowing limit   166,200    125,522  

"Intra-year" peak borrowings   285,900   336,000  



2016 2015

$'000 $'000

Note 17 Notes to the statement of cash flows

(a) Reconciliation of cash

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, net of outstanding bank 
overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents  21,707   4,012  

(b) Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year  32,716  40,291 

Adjustments for:

Accrued Income   (36,784)  -   

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  3  -   

Employee benefits expense  720  -   

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  12,869  14,089 

Doubtful debts written off  103  -   

Finance interest paid  5,355  4,850 

Income tax expense  14,073  17,272 

 29,055  76,501 

Assets (increase)/ decrease

Receivables  21,210  62,764 

Inventories  33,089   (44,229)

Other assets   (31,474)   (11,982)

Liabilities increase/ (decrease)

Payables   (33,244)  25,079 

Provisions   (299)  136 

Other liabilities  8,485   (22,847)

Cash generated from operating activities  26,822  85,422 

Net income tax paid   (16,105)   (14,369)

Net cash from operating activities  10,717  71,053 
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2016 2015

$'000 $'000

Note 18 Employee benefits

(a) The aggregate employee entitlement liability (other than under the defined benefit superannuation plan) recognised 
and included in the financial statements is as follows:

Current provision for employee benefits (note 13)  4,929   5,201  

Non-current provision for employee benefits (note 13)  1,894   1,915  

 6,823   7,116  

(b) Defined benefit superannuation plan

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial assumptions were as follows:

2016 2015
% %

Discount rate - 2.74

Expected salary increase rate - 4.00

Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations were as 
follows:

2016 2015

$'000 $'000
Opening defined benefit obligation  6  6 

Closing defined benefit obligation  -  6 

Historical information

(Gold State Super)

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Present value of defined benefit obligation  -  6  6  6  886 

Fair value of scheme assets  -  -  -  -  - 

(Surplus)/deficit in scheme  -  6  6  6  886 

Experience adjustments (gain)/loss -  -  -  -  (39)  (40)

scheme liabilities

The experience adjustment for Scheme liabilities represents the actuarial loss (gain) due to a change in the liabilities 
arising from the Scheme’s experience (e.g. membership movements, unit entitlements) and excludes the effect of the 
changes in assumptions (e.g. movements in the bond rate and changes in pensioner mortality assumptions).
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2016
(Gold State Super) $'000

Expected employer contributions -

During the year the Gold State Super was paid to the previous employee. The balance of the Provision at 30 June 2016 
was Nil.

Expected contributions



2016 2015
$'000 $'000

Note 19 Commitments

(a) Capital commitments expenditure
Development of land  118,061  199,395 
Operating subsidy (project funding received in advance)  30,806  29,344 

 148,867  228,739 

(b) Operating lease commitments
Operating lease commitments are disclosed in note 25(a)

Note 20 Financial Instruments

(a) Financial risk management

LandCorp has exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments:
- credit risk       
- liquidity risk       
- market risk        

This note presents information about LandCorp’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.     

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The Board 
has established the Audit and Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring risk 
management policies. The committee reports regularly to the Board on its activities.

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by LandCorp, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and LandCorp’s activities. LandCorp, through their training and 
management standards and procedures, aim to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all 
employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with LandCorp’s risk 
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks 
faced by LandCorp. The Audit and Risk Management Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal 
Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are 
reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to LandCorp if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractural obligations, and arises principally from LandCorp’s receivables from customers and investments.  

Exposure to credit risk       

The carrying amount of LandCorp’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. LandCorp’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Carrying amount

2016 2015
$'000 $'000

Held-to-maturity and/or cash investments  -  29,027 
Loans and receivables  60,335  42,651 
Cash and cash equivalents  21,707  4,012 

 82,042  75,691 
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Note 20 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Investments

LandCorp limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counterparties that 
have a credit rating of AA from Standard & Poor’s. Given these high credit ratings, management does not expect any 
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

Trade and other receivables

LandCorp’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the nature of each type of debtor and a risk management 
approach is taken. Approximately 45% (2015: 37%) comprises debt from other Government agencies to be paid over time 
and is considered to be low risk.

It should be noted that due to the nature of LandCorp’s business, the vast majority of LandCorp’s revenue is received and 
recognised at the time of settlement of the sale of land, hence debtors make up a small proportion of LandCorp’s overall 
customer base.

New non-Government debtors are analysed individually for creditworthiness before LandCorp’s standard payment and 
delivery terms and conditions are offered.        

Given the one-off nature of land sales with LandCorp, less than 10% (2015: less than 10%) of LandCorp’s customers have 
transacted with LandCorp previously, and losses have occurred infrequently. In monitoring debtor credit risk, debtors are 
grouped according to their credit characteristics; whether they are a Government or non-Government debtor. Debtors that 
are graded as higher risk are monitored for late payment and may be subject to legal action.  

LandCorp has established an allowance for impairment that represents their estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade 
and other receivables. The allowance is a specific loss component that relates to individual exposures. 

LandCorp’s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was:

   

Carrying amount

2016 2015
$'000 $'000

Government debtors   26,276     12,590   
Non-Government debtors  34,059  30,164 

LandCorp’s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of debtor was:
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Carrying amount

2016 2015
$'000 $'000

Australia  60,335  42,754 



Note 20 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Impairment losses       

LandCorp’s receivables past due amount to $3,338,669.43 (2015: $766,000). The aging of LandCorp’s trade receivables 
at the reporting date was:

Trade receivables Gross Impairment

2016 2015 2016 2015
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Not past due  56,996  41,988  -    -   
Past due 1-30 days  766  291  -    -   
Past due 31-60 days  727  108  -    -   
Past due 61-90 days  287  54  -    -   
Past due 91-180 days  295  155  -    -   
Past due more than 181 days  1,264  158  -  103 

60,335  42,754  - 103 

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

2016 2015
$'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July  103  218 
Movement  (103)    (115)   
Balance 30 June  -  103 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  |  97

LandCorp believes no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due or past due by up 
to 60 days. LandCorp does make an impairment allowance for all receivables greater than 181 days if the receivable is 
deemed unrecoverable. The debt owed by WA Kaolin Holdings Pty Ltd ($102,624) was written off during the year and 
the allowance for impairment was reversed.

The allowance accounts in respect of trade receivables and held-to-maturity investments are used to record impairment 
losses unless LandCorp is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point the amount is 
considered irrecoverable and is written off against the financial asset directly. At 30 June 2016 LandCorp does not have 
any collective impairments on its trade receivables or its held-to-maturity investments (2015: $102,624).



Note 20 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that LandCorp will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. LandCorp’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage 
to LandCorp’s reputation. 

LandCorp uses market value to cost its land, which assists it in monitoring cash flow requirements and optimising its cash 
return on investments. Typically LandCorp ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational 
expenses for a period of 30 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of 
extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. In addition, LandCorp maintains the 
following lines of credit:   

-  $2 million bank overdraft facility that is unsecured. Interest would be payable at the bank’s published Corporate 
Overdraft Reference Rate less 100 basis points.       

-  $300 million (2015: $336 million) provided by West Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) that can be drawn down to 
meet short and long-term financing needs. During the year LandCorp entered into a new arrangement with WATC, which 
limits the amounts repayable to no more than 20% per year. This was drawn to $150 million at 30 June 2016.

-   Guarantees established in favour of Commonwealth Bank of Australia for guarantees issued to various Government 
entities for satisfactory contract performance, secured by underlying land assets, amounting to $20 million (2015: 
$20 million).

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the 
impact of netting agreements: 

2016

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

%

Carrying 
amount

$'000

Contractual 
cash flows

$’000

6 months or 
less

$’000
6-12 months

$’000

More than 1 
year

$’000

Trade and other payables  61,585  (61,585)  (59,497)  (463)  (1,625)

WATC loan 2.54%  150,000  (153,817)  (14,070)  (15,354)  (124,393)

Bank overdraft  -  -  -  -  - 

 211,585  (215,402)  (73,567)  (15,817)  (126,018)

2015

Trade and other payables  94,110  (94,110)  (91,956)  (998)  (1,156)

WATC loan 2.97%  125,522  (125,522)  (125,522)  -  - 

Bank overdraft  -  -  -  -  - 

 219,632  (219,632)  (217,478)  (998)  (1,156)
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Note 20 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

(d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect 
LandCorp’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

LandCorp currently has no derivative arrangements.

Interest rate risk       

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of LandCorp’s interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities was: 

$’000 2016 2015

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets   21,707   33,039  
Financial liabilities (150,000) (125,522)

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments:       

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or 
loss by the amounts shown below.

Profit or Loss

2016 100 bp 100 bp

$'000 increase decrease

Financial assets   217    (217)  
Financial liabilities (1,500) 1,500

2015
$'000

Financial assets  330   (330)  
Financial liabilities (1,255) 1,255
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Note 20 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Fair values

Fair values versus carrying amounts      

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as 
follows:

30 June 2016 30 June 2015

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value

Other financial assets  -  -  29,027  29,027 

Loans and receivables  60,335  60,335  42,651  42,651  

Cash and cash equivalents  21,707  21,707  4,012  4,012 

Trade and other payables  (61,585)  (61,585)  (94,110)  (94,110)

WATC loan  (150,000)  (150,000)  (125,522)  (125,522)

 (129,543)  (129,543)  (143,941)  (143,941)

Capital Management     

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain shareholder, creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain the future development of the business.

The Board’s policy is referred to in Section 19 of the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992.

Under the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, LandCorp has agreed a dividend policy with its shareholder, the 
State Government, around a set formula. A balance is retained as a source of capital base for ongoing activities.

There were no changes to LandCorp’s approach to capital management during the year. 
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2016 2015
$'000 $'000

Note 21 Land sales contracts

Unsettled sales contracts (i)   91,368   72,144 

(i) Unsettled sales contracts have not been included in revenue since neither title nor possession has been transferred. 
This treatment is in accordance with the Accounting Policy explained in note 1(t).

Note 22 Remuneration of auditors

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key 
performance indicators

  141     138

Note 23 Contingent liabilities

Landcorp has a contingent liability regarding a past land acquisition. This matter is before the courts and the outcome is 
indeterminable at this stage. The directors are not aware of any other contingent liabilities.

Note 24 Dividends

Recognised amounts

Normal dividend  17,250   17,192  

Special dividends:

- AMC Common User Facility  13,290  13,290 

- 5% Efficiency saving  1,049  1,049 

- Additional efficiency saving  1,364  911 

- Reduction due to interest expense from additional 
borrowings for the 2012-13 special dividend

(1,300) -

 31,653  32,442 

In the August 2015 Board meeting, the Board approved to recommend to the Minister a final dividend for 2015/16 of 
$31,653,000. Total dividends paid in 2016: $31,653,000 (2015: $32,442,000) in respect of LandCorp’s operations.
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Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:



2016 2015
$'000 $'000

Note 25 Leasing arrangements

(a) Operating lease commitments

LandCorp has its office premises and its motor vehicle fleet under non-cancellable operating leases.  Total commitments 
for future lease payments which have not been provided for in the accounts are as follows:

No later than 1 year  2,680  2,605 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  11,302  10,766 

Later than 5 years  6,465  12,167 

 20,447  25,538 

(b) Operating lease receivables 

LandCorp holds certain land and buildings for strategic purposes only.  Such holdings are rentable properties and are 
treated as operating lease receivables. Total future lease receivables are as follows:

No later than 1 year  23,549  52,721 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  84,215  228,195 

Later than 5 years  355,163  234,399 

 462,927  515,315 

Leases are negotiated in terms between 2 to 5 years with the exception of certain contracts that last up to 50 years.  
Rental rates are subject to future adjustments based on the terms of the lease arrangements.  Outstanding operating 
leases are based on existing rates and do not include the extension periods under option.

Note 26 - Subsequent events

There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year that has significantly 
affected or may significantly affect LandCorp’s operations, the results of those operations, or LandCorp’s state of affairs in 
future financial years.
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